Evidence Brief

Improving Hospital-To-Home Transitions for Older Adults with Complex Health and Social Needs in Ontario

9 and 10 December 2020







Evidence Brief: Improving Hospital-to-home Transitions for Older Adults with Complex Health and Social Needs in Ontario

9 & 10 December 2020

McMaster Health Forum

The McMaster Health Forum's goal is to generate action on the pressing health- and social-system issues of our time, based on the best available research evidence and systematically elicited citizen values and stakeholder insights. We aim to strengthen health and social systems – locally, nationally, and internationally – and get the right programs, services and drugs to the people who need them.

Authors

François-Pierre Gauvin, PhD, Senior Scientific Lead, Citizen Engagement and Evidence Curation, McMaster Health Forum

Kerry Waddell, M.Sc., Technical Focal Point, Rapid-Improvement Support and Exchange Rebecca Ganann, RN PhD, Assistant Professor, School of Nursing, McMaster University Gail Heald-Taylor, Caregiver Research Partner, Aging, Community and Health Research Unit, School of Nursing, McMaster University

Maureen Markle-Reid, RN MScN, PhD, Professor and Canada Research Chair in Person Centred Interventions for Older Adults with Multimorbidity and their Caregivers; Scientific Director, Aging, Community and Health Research Unit, School of Nursing, McMaster University

Carrie McAiney, PhD, Associate Professor, School of Public Health and Health Systems, Schlegel Research Chair in Dementia, University of Waterloo

John N. Lavis, MD PhD, Director, McMaster Health Forum, and Professor, McMaster University

Funding

The evidence brief and the stakeholder dialogue it was prepared to inform were funded through the Community Assets Supporting Transitions (CAST) study which receives funding from the Ontario SPOR SUPPORT Unit and the Labarge Optimal Aging Initiative, and is supported by the CIHR Signature Initiative in Community-Based Primary Healthcare. They were also funded by the Government of Ontario through a grant provided to Rapid-Improvement Support and Exchange (RISE). The McMaster Health Forum receives both financial and in-kind support from McMaster University. The views expressed in the evidence brief are the views of the authors and should not be taken to represent the views of the funders.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no professional or commercial interests relevant to the evidence brief. The funders played no role in the identification, selection, assessment, synthesis, or presentation of the research evidence profiled in the evidence brief.

Merit review

The evidence brief was reviewed by a small number of policymakers, stakeholders and researchers in order to ensure its scientific rigour and system relevance.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank Paula Voorheis, Aunima Bhuiya, and Lynaea Filbey for assistance with reviewing the research evidence about the elements. We are grateful to Steering Committee members and merit reviewers (George Heckman, Tara Kiran and Andrea Proctor) for providing feedback on previous drafts of the brief. The views expressed in the evidence brief should not be taken to represent the views of these individuals.

Citation

Gauvin FP, Waddell K, Ganann R, Heald-Taylor G, Markle-Reid M, McAiney C, Lavis JN. Evidence brief: Improving hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs in Ontario. Hamilton: McMaster Health Forum, 9 & 10 December 2020.

Product registration numbers

ISSN 1925-2250 (online)

Table of Contents

KEY MESSAGES	5
REPORT	7
THE PROBLEM	11
Many older adults have a wide range of complex health and social needs that make hospital-to-home transitions complex and risky	11
Despite a growing body of research evidence about the experiences of older adults with complex health and social needs (and their caregivers) during hospital-to-home transitions, there is still a knowledge-to-practice gap	12
Caregivers often feel unprepared to support hospital-to-home transitions	14
The health system is not currently designed to support older adults with complex health and social needs during hospital-to-home transitions	15
The pressures being placed on the health- and social-systems to respond to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic affect hospital-to-home transitions	17
Bringing about system changes takes time, resources and commitment from many players, including older adults, caregivers, providers, organizations and the system as a whole	19
Additional equity-related observations about the problem	21
Citizens' views about key challenges related to supporting older adults with complex health and social needs during hospital-to-home transitions	23
THREE ELEMENTS OF A POTENTIALLY COMPREHENSIVE APPROACH FOR ADDRESSING THE PROBLEM	25
Citizens' values and preferences related to the three approach elements	25
Element 1 – Enabling older adults and their caregivers to play a role in their own care during hospital-to-home transitions	27
Element 2 – Enabling providers to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions	31
Element 3 – Enabling decision-makers to make small yet rapid changes to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions	34
Additional equity-related observations about the three approach elements	37
IMPLEMENTATION CONSIDERATIONS	38
REFERENCES	42
APPENDICES	50

Improving hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs in Ontario

KEY MESSAGES

What is the problem?

- We identified six factors that make it hard for older adults with complex health and social needs (and their caregivers) to become involved in their own health and care during the transition from hospital to home:
 - o many older adults have a wide range of complex health and social needs that make hospital-to-home transitions complex and risky;
 - o despite a growing body of research evidence about the experiences of older adults with complex health and social needs (and their caregivers) during hospital-to-home transitions, there is still a knowledge-to-practice gap;
 - o caregivers often feel unprepared to support hospital-to-home transitions;
 - o the health system is not currently designed to support older adults with complex health and social needs during hospital-to-home transitions;
 - o the pressures being placed on health and social systems to respond to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic affect hospital-to-home transitions; and
 - o bringing about system changes takes time, resources and commitment from many players, including older adults, family caregivers, providers, organizations and the system as a whole.

What do we know (from systematic reviews) about three elements of a potentially comprehensive approach to addressing the problem?

- Element 1 Enabling older adults and their caregivers to play a role in their own care during hospital-to-home transitions
 - o There is limited evidence about the effectiveness of self-management strategies for individuals with multiple chronic conditions, but they seem effective for individuals who have one health condition to manage. Discharge tools co-designed with patients can help hospital-to-home transitions.
- Element 2 Enabling providers to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions
 - Several strategies seem effective to improve transitions, including strategies that are used early in the hospital admission, during the hospital stay and transition process, close to time of discharge, and after discharge.
- Element 3 Enabling decision-makers to make small yet rapid changes to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions
 - o This element focuses on an approach called "rapid-learning systems."
 - We were unable to find any systematic reviews that directly address the use of rapid-learning systems related to improving hospital-to-home transitions per se, however, we included two reviews and a series of case studies that related broadly to the characteristics of a rapid-learning system.

What implementation considerations need to be kept in mind?

- While many barriers to improving hospital-to-home transitions may exist at the level of patients, caregivers, providers, provider organizations and systems, perhaps the biggest barrier lies in the many silos in the system making it difficult to improve hospital-to-home transitions.
- One of the biggest windows of opportunity is that improving hospital-to-home transitions is at the centre of major reforms in Ontario (such as the creation of Ontario Health Teams), and has been shown to be increasingly important in light of the pressures being placed on the acute-care sector to respond to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. Together, these create a burning platform to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs (and their caregivers).

Improving hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs in Ontario

REPORT

Hospital-to-home transitions can be stressful experiences for patients and caregivers, often requiring significant adjustments to their lives to manage their own health and care. This may include using a new medication or treatment, changes in physical and cognitive functions requiring different supports, or working with a different care team from different sectors (including home and community care, primary care, specialty care, and rehabilitation care).(1)

This transition can be particularly stressful and destabilizing for older adults with complex health and social needs (and for their caregivers too). It is increasingly common for older adults to have multiple chronic conditions, defined as two or more conditions. Many are living with mental health conditions (anxiety, depression, and Alzheimer's and other dementias). Many are also frail and have severe levels of health instability.(2-4) These older adults are at increased risk for poor quality of life and poor health outcomes, particularly when they are transitioning from hospital to home.(5) Further, as they transition between sectors, many older adults experience fragmented care from multiple care providers who often lack a common system for coordination and communication.(6-7)

In addition, many older adults with complex health needs live in complex social circumstances. For example, research evidence has found that the burden of multimorbidity is greater among people living in low-income neighbourhoods.(8) These individuals may be financially insecure, lonely, geographically isolated, live in inadequate and unaffordable housing, have limited ability to use health information, or may be unaware of support services in their community.(9) They face inequities related to the social determinants of health or are at risk for poor outcomes related to the social determinants of health. These may also negatively affect the transition from hospital to home.

Quality transitions from hospital to home result in a number of positive outcomes, including:

- reduced length of stay at the hospital;(10)
- reduced hospital readmissions;(10-12)
- increased use of appropriate primary-care services that could help to prevent health problems;(11)
- increased use of appropriate home- and communitycare services;(11)

Box 1: Background to the evidence brief

This evidence brief mobilizes both global and local research evidence about a problem, approach elements for addressing the problem, and key implementation considerations. Whenever possible, the evidence brief summarizes research evidence drawn from systematic reviews of the research literature and occasionally from single research studies. A systematic review is a summary of studies addressing a clearly formulated question that uses systematic and explicit methods to identify, select and appraise research studie,s and to synthesize data from the included studies. The evidence brief does not contain recommendations, which would have required the authors of the brief to make judgments based on their personal values and preferences, and which could pre-empt important deliberations about whose values and preferences matter in making such judgments.

The preparation of the evidence brief involved five steps:

- convening a Steering Committee comprised of representatives from the partner organizations and the McMaster Health Forum;
- 2) developing and refining the terms of reference for an evidence brief, particularly the framing of the problem and three viable approach elements for addressing it, in consultation with the Steering Committee and a number of key informants, and with the aid of several conceptual frameworks that organize thinking about ways to approach the issue;
- identifying, selecting, appraising and synthesizing relevant research evidence about the problem, approach elements and implementation considerations;
- drafting the evidence brief in such a way as to present concisely and in accessible language the global and local research evidence; and
- finalizing the evidence brief based on the input of several merit reviewers.

The three elements for addressing the problem were not designed to be mutually exclusive. They could be pursued simultaneously or in a sequenced way, and each approach element could be given greater or lesser attention relative to the others.

The evidence brief was prepared to inform a stakeholder dialogue at which research evidence is one of many considerations. Participants' views and experiences and the tacit knowledge they bring to the issues at hand are also important inputs to the dialogue. One goal of the stakeholder dialogue is to spark insights – insights that can only come about when all of those who will be involved in or affected by future decisions about the issue can work through it together. A second goal of the stakeholder dialogue is to generate action by those who participate in the dialogue and by those who review the dialogue summary and the video interviews with dialogue participants.

- reduced admission to long-term care homes;(13)
- better health outcomes and quality of life;(14) and
- improved patient and caregiver experience of care.(15)

Unfortunately, hospital-to-home transitions are often poorly planned and supported. These situations pose serious safety risks to older adults, lead to complications and hospital readmissions, and put an added strain on older adults, their caregivers and the entire health system.(16-18)

Improving hospital-to-home transitions is a high priority for patients, families, caregivers and other stakeholders in Ontario. A growing body of research evidence has explored the experiences of patients and caregivers during hospital-to-home transitions, what matters most to them, and promising ways to improve transitions in the province.(6; 19-22)

It was also featured prominently throughout reports published from the Premier's Council on Ending Hallway Medicine, and the Ontario's first Patient Ombudsman, as well as playing a central role in the ongoing provincial health reforms.(23-24) Further, Ontario Health, Quality Business Unit, released in 2019 a quality standard focused on hospital-to-home transitions.(25) That same year, the government announced major health-system reforms. One key element of these reforms is the creation of Ontario Health Teams in which all healthcare providers in a given geographic area work as a coordinated team to provide care to a defined population. The reforms aim to break down the silos in the system (such as those that exist between specialty care, primary care, and home and community care), provide more integrated care, and improve care transitions.(23; 26-27)

As the province resumes its work with the first cohort of 29 Ontario Health Teams and is announcing plans for a second cohort, there is a unique opportunity to 'bake-in' changes that could improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs (and their caregivers). It is also an opportunity to explore how older adults and their caregivers could be engaged more meaningfully during hospital-to-home transitions. (28)

In addition to being timely for ongoing provincial initiatives, hospital-to-home transitions are increasingly important in light of the pressures being placed on the

acute-care sector to respond to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. Together, these create a burning platform from which to address how patients, families, caregivers, providers, researchers, health- and social-system leaders and other stakeholders can improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs (and their caregivers).

Box 2: Equity considerations

A problem may disproportionately affect some groups in society. The benefits, harms and costs of options to address the problem may vary across groups. Implementation considerations may also vary across groups.

One way to identify groups warranting particular attention is to use "PROGRESS," which is an acronym formed by the first letters of the following eight ways that can be used to describe groups†:

- place of residence (e.g., rural and remote populations);
- race/ethnicity/culture (e.g., First Nations and Inuit populations, immigrant populations and linguistic minority populations);
- occupation or labour-market experiences more generally (e.g., those in "precarious work" arrangements);
- gender;
- religion;
- educational level (e.g., health literacy);
- socio-economic status (e.g., economically disadvantaged populations); and
- social capital/social exclusion.

The evidence brief strives to address all Ontarians, but (where possible) it also gives particular attention to:

- older adults with multiple chronic conditions and co-occurring mental health conditions; and
- older adults living in rural, remote and northern areas.

Many other groups warrant serious consideration as well, and a similar approach could be adopted for any of them.

† The PROGRESS framework was developed by Tim Evans and Hilary Brown (Evans T, Brown H. Road traffic crashes: operationalizing equity in the context of health sector reform. *Injury Control and Safety Promotion* 2003;10(1-2): 11–12). It is being tested by the Cochrane Collaboration Health Equity Field as a means of evaluating the impact of interventions on health equity.

Aim of the evidence brief

This evidence brief aims to inform deliberations that could help to improve the quality and experience of hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs (and their caregivers) in Ontario. In doing so, it mobilizes the best available evidence to identify: 1) the challenges in improving hospital-to-home transitions; 2) three elements of a potentially comprehensive approach to address the problem; and 3) key implementation considerations for these elements. As explained in Box 1, the evidence brief does not contain recommendations. Moving from evidence to recommendations would have required the authors to introduce their own values and preferences. Instead, the intent is for this evidence brief to inform deliberations where participants in a stakeholder dialogue will themselves decide what actions are needed based on the available evidence, their own experiential knowledge, and insights arising through the deliberations.

To draw attention to equity considerations in the framing of the problem and identification of potential solutions, the evidence brief also focuses on two groups that were identified by the Steering Committee and key informants. Specifically, when considering the challenges in improving hospital-to-home transitions, the evidence brief explores equity considerations from the perspective of two groups: 1) older adults with multiple chronic conditions and co-occurring mental health conditions; and 2) older adults living in rural, remote and northern areas. Hospital-to-home transitions may pose particular equity challenges for both (see Box 2). Many other groups warrant serious consideration as well, and a similar approach could be adopted for any of them.

Key definitions

This evidence brief uses several key terms that need to be defined, and in some cases described. The terms and their definitions and descriptions are outlined in Table 1.

Table 1. Key definitions

Term	Definition and description
Caregiver	• An individual who provides ongoing care and assistance, without pay, for a family member or a friend in need of support due to physical, cognitive or mental health conditions. In addition to family members or significant others, friends, neighbours, or members of a faith community may be caregivers. Caregivers are increasingly recognized as 'care partners' and members of the 'care team'.
Chronic condition	• A health problem requiring ongoing management over a period of years or decades (for example, arthritis, asthma, cancer, depression, dementia, diabetes and heart disease).(29)
Engagement	• Patients, caregivers and professionals working in active partnership to improve health. Patients and caregivers can be engaged at various levels: in their own care, in the organizations that deliver care, and in policymaking.(30)
Frailty	 Frailty is most often considered to be a type of vulnerability related to physical, emotional and social factors. (31-32) In relation to physical factors, frailty often results from an accumulation of deficits in health and is experienced as: having a general lack of strength; being more vulnerable to disease (e.g., one or more chronic diseases) or disability (e.g., lack of mobility); and deteriorating in health more quickly as a result of diseases and disability. Emotional and social factors can relate to many things that lead to vulnerability (and eventually greater risk of functional impairments and disease), including lack of emotional and social support, and social isolation.(31) While frailty is closely linked with both chronic disease and disability, it cannot be considered synonymous with them. For example, older adults can be frail without having a chronic disease or disability. Similarly, frailty can precede the onset of either a disease or disability, or be the result of them.(31-32)
Health	• "A state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity." (33)

Home	• A person's usual place of residence, which may include a personal residence, a retirement home, an assisted-living facility or a shelter.(25)		
Home and	Home and community care refers to an array of publicly and privately funded services to help people		
community care	receive "care at home, rather than in a hospital or long-term care facility, and to live as independently as possible in the community." (34)		
	 Home and community care is delivered by various health- and social-care organizations (e.g., third-party contractors paid by provincial or regional health authorities), professionals (e.g., nurses, dietitians and social workers), other types of health workers (e.g., personal-support workers), and unpaid caregivers (e.g., family members, friends and volunteers). 		
	• From a programmatic perspective, home care can include: 1) professional services to assess clients' needs (e.g., nursing care, physiotherapy, occupational therapy, respiratory therapy, speech-language therapy, and social work); 2) services by care coordinators (i.e., a trained health professional in charge of coordinating a patient's care delivery from multiple providers); 3) services by system navigators (i.e., a trained professional, trained volunteer or peer who helps patients and families in need of home		
	and community care to access services, guides them through the health and social systems, and helps them overcome barriers they may face; 4) personal-support services to help clients with daily care (e.g., bathing, dressing, eating and personal hygiene); 5) homemaking services (e.g., cleaning, planning and preparing meals, caring for children); and 6) end-of-life care with in-home visits and respite care.(35)		
	• Community care can include: 1) adult day programs; 2) supportive housing (e.g., personal support, homemaking); 3) retirement homes (e.g., personal support, homemaking services, social and recreational opportunities); and 4) transportation services. Other examples could include community and residential hospice services such as counselling and support groups, exercise and falls-prevention programs, and assistive-devices programs (e.g., enteral feeding supplies, insulin pumps and supplies for diabetics).(35)		
Hospital-to-			
home transition	• The process of supporting patients who are being discharged from hospital and are moving back home. The aim is to help patients to manage their health and care, and also support all members of the care team (including the patients and caregivers) to work together to deliver home and community care.		
Integrated care	• Care that addresses both the health and social needs of individuals, and that is provided in a seamless and coordinated way across providers, organizations and sectors.		
Mental health condition	• A wide range of conditions that affect people's mood, thinking and behaviour (for example, anxiety, depression, and Alzheimer's and other dementias).		
Self- management	 An individual's ability to manage the symptoms, treatment, physical, psychosocial, and lifestyle changes inherent in living with a chronic condition. 		
	• It empowers patients and prepares them to manage their healthcare, to stay well and to maintain good physical and emotional well-being (e.g., eating well, exercising, taking medication, monitoring and managing symptoms).		
	It is sometimes referred to as 'self-care'.		
Social determinants of health	 Many factors can have an influence on health, including someone's genetics and lifestyle choices, but also where someone was born, grow, live, work and age.(36) The social determinants of health refer to the social and economic factors influencing health,(37) such as: Indigenous status; 		
	 disability; education; employment and working conditions; 		
	early childhood development;ethnocultural background;		
	o food insecurity;o gender;o health services;		
	 health services; housing; income and income distribution; 		
	o social exclusion;o social safety network; and		
	 unemployment and job security. Addressing the social determinants of health is key to achieving health equity. 		

THE PROBLEM

We identified six factors that make it challenging to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs (and their caregivers) in Ontario:

- 1) many older adults have a wide range of complex health and social needs that make hospital-to-home transitions complex and risky;
- 2) despite a growing body of research evidence about the experiences of older adults with complex health and social needs (and their caregivers) during hospital-to-home transitions, there is still a knowledge-to-practice gap;
- 3) caregivers often feel unprepared to support hospital-tohome transitions:
- the health system is not currently designed to support older adults with complex health and social needs during hospitalto-home transitions;
- 5) the pressures being placed on health and social systems to respond to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic affect hospital-to-home transitions; and
- 6) bringing about system changes takes time, resources and commitment from many players, including older adults, caregivers, providers, organizations and the system as a whole.

Many older adults have a wide range of complex health and social needs that make hospital-to-home transitions complex and risky

Box 3: Mobilizing research evidence about the problem

The available research evidence about the problem was sought from a range of published and 'grey' research literature sources. Published literature that provided a comparative dimension to an understanding of the problem was sought using three health services research 'hedges' in MedLine, namely those for appropriateness, processes and outcomes of care (which increase the chances of us identifying administrative database studies and community surveys). Published literature that provided insights into alternative ways of framing the problem was sought using a fourth hedge in MedLine, namely the one for qualitative research. Grey literature was sought by reviewing the websites of a number of domestic and international organizations, such as: the Aging, Community and Health Research Unit at McMaster University; the Ontario Health, Quality Business Unit; Ontario Caregiver Organization; The Change Foundation; IC/ES; Canadian Institute for Health Information; and Statistics Canada.

Priority was given to research evidence that was published more recently, that was locally applicable (in the sense of having been conducted in Canada), and that took equity considerations into account.

Many older adults have a wide range of complex health needs (both physical and mental). For example, older adults are more likely to have complex health needs associated with multiple chronic conditions. (38) Across the country, approximately 29% of Canadians are living with one chronic condition, but 15% have two chronic conditions, and 7% have three or more chronic conditions. Living with multiple chronic conditions is something that is more likely to affect older adults. In Ontario, 43% of adults over the age of 65 have two or more chronic conditions. (29)

Older adults with multiple chronic conditions (compared to those without multiple chronic conditions) report lower levels of health-related quality of life, and have higher levels of disability, mortality and caregiver burden.(39) Hospital readmissions are also frequent among older adults with multiple chronic conditions. A matched cohort study in Ontario found that as many as one in three complex patients 66 years and older are readmitted to hospital within one year of their initial visit.(40) Thus, multimorbidity and hospital readmissions have both a cost to the system from additional service use, as well as costs to those caring for patients who shoulder a disproportionate amount of work supporting the transition process.

The complex health needs of older adults are often intertwined with complex social needs.(41) Unmet social needs put these individuals at greater risk for poor health outcomes.(42-43) These older adults may:

- lack social support;
- be lonely;
- be geographically isolated;
- be financially insecure;
- live in inadequate and unaffordable housing;
- have limited access to transportation;
- lack access to affordable, nutritious food;

- have limited access to health and social services (or may not seek these services when in need);
- have limited access to services that are linguistically and culturally sensitive; or
- have marginalized identities that put them at greater risk for discrimination and being excluded.(44)

Addressing the wide range of health and social needs of older adults is challenging. A recent Canadian study examined the experiences of community-dwelling older adults, family caregivers and healthcare providers about managing multiple chronic conditions.(45) The study revealed the large gap between the needs of older adults (and the needs of their caregivers) and the ability of health and social systems to meet these needs. The care experiences were described as "piecemeal and fragmented with little focus on the person and family as a whole."(45) Older adults with complex health and social needs (particularly those who are frail) are very susceptible to stressors which would include abrupt changes of environments or routine such as during a care transition.(46) Thus, efforts to improve the situation will likely hinge on how well transitions are managed and integrated in the system, given the complex health and social needs of many older adults.

Despite a growing body of research evidence about the experiences of older adults with complex health and social needs (and their caregivers) during hospital-to-home transitions, there is still a knowledge-to-practice gap

A growing body of research evidence has explored the experiences of patients and caregivers during hospital-to-home transitions, what matters most to them, and promising ways to improve transitions in the province. Some of these studies have also examined those with complex health and social needs (such as those with multimorbidity and co-occurring mental health conditions).(47-49)

For instance, the Geriatric Health Systems Research Group at the University of Waterloo led large mixed-methods studies to examine hip-fracture transitions across the system in Ontario, along with using and sharing of health information during transitions across sectors. (50-59)

Recently, the Aging, Community and Health Research Unit at the McMaster University led the Community Assets Supporting Transitions (CAST) study. The study aimed to determine the effectiveness, implementation and costs of a hospital-to-home support program for older adults with multiple chronic conditions and depressive symptoms. This nurse-led model includes home visits, telephone follow-up, and nurse-led care coordination over a period of six months (Figure 1). The researchers are working side-by-side with patients, caregivers and providers from three communities in Ontario (Burlington, Hamilton and Sudbury) to tailor the model to each community.(20; 47) This hospital-to-home transition model was studied as part of a six-month integrated transitional-care stroke intervention delivered by an interprofessional team (including occupational therapists, physiotherapists, speech-language pathologists, registered nurses, and social workers). The intervention involved multiple components: care coordination, home visiting, and interprofessional case conferences supported by a web-based application. Participants in this study had complex health and social needs (with an average of eight chronic conditions). Findings revealed that the intervention was feasible and acceptable to both older adults and providers. While there was no statistically significant difference in health outcomes from baseline to six months, the intervention resulted in improvements in one aspect of patient experience. The study sample fell below the target sample (enrolled 127, targeted 216), which can account for the study's non-significant findings.

A second study led by the Aging, Community and Health Research Unit examined the feasibility of a 6-month integrated transitional care stroke intervention. It explored the effects of this intervention on health outcomes, patient and provider experience, and cost in 30 community-living older adults (≥55 years) with stroke and multimorbidity using outpatient stroke rehabilitation services. The findings revealed that such intervention was feasible and acceptable to both stroke survivors and providers. No statistically significant difference in health outcomes was found from baseline to 6 months. However, there was a significant reduction in the total per person use and costs of health services.(49)

Figure 1. The Community Assets Supporting Transitions (CAST) study



Source: Aging, Community and Health Research Unit (21)

Another recent Ontario-based study identified six key areas affecting the experience of hospital-to-home transitions: 1) home and community care; 2) the discharge process; 3) medical follow-up after discharge; 4) medications; 5) patient and caregiver education; and 6) the kindness and caring of the healthcare team in hospital. Study participants indicated that the most notable challenges were the "timeliness, sufficiency, reliability and consistency" of publicly-funded home-care services.(15)

This study identified the biggest gaps that should be the focus of the health system in order to improve hospital-to-home transitions: The three biggest gaps were: 1) not enough publicly funded home-care services to meet their needs; 2) home-care support not being in place when arriving at home from hospital (along with the required home modifications, which may be costly, and considerations for which take time and planning); and 3) having to advocate for themselves to get enough home care.(19)

This resonates with international studies examining older adults' experiences of adapting to daily life after going back home from hospital.(60) Studies revealed that older adults often experienced an insecure or unsafe transition, and had difficulty settling into their new situation at home (Table 2).

Table 2. Older adults' experiences of adapting to daily life after going back home from hospital (60)

Challenges	Examples		
Experiencing an insecure	Lacking information about their health situation, treatment and/or care		
and unsafe transition	Experiencing a rushed discharge		
	Being confused about medication and how to take their medications		
	Not being engaged in their own care		
	Not being engaged in decisions about their own life		
	Not understanding the information being provided to them (or not explained well)		
	Lacking coordination and communication between the different providers (which may lead to errors in treatment and other adverse events)		
	Conflicting opinions between providers		
	Not having all their medication reviewed by the care team		
Having difficulty settling	Being dependent on additional help from others		
into a new situation at	Losing independence		
home	Home not being prepared (for example, lack of specialized equipment and assistive devices)		
	Having problems performing daily activities		
	Not receiving care according to needs		
	Not feeling ready to go home (or not feeling confident to go home)		
	Having to change care team (and managing appointments) disrupted efforts to get back to their daily routines		
	Feeling lonely and isolated		
	Feeling depressed and experiencing no meaning in life		

This growing body of research evidence illustrates that a significant amount is known about the experiences of older adults with complex health and social needs (and their caregivers) during hospital-to-home transitions, but that there remains a gap between the research evidence and the actual practices and policies related to hospital-to-home transitions.

Caregivers often feel unprepared to support hospital-to-home transitions

Caregivers provide essential support to older adults transitioning from hospital to home. In Ontario, roughly 3.3 million people, or 29% of the provincial population, are caregivers to friends or family with a long-term health condition or aging-related needs. Of these, the majority are women and roughly 2.5 million are balancing caregiving alongside paid employment.(61) Older adults with multiple chronic conditions have greater care needs and rely more heavily on their caregivers compared with those with a single chronic condition.(29; 62) As a report from the Canadian Medical Association pointed out: "Much of the burden of continuing care falls on caregivers."(63)

Caregivers play many important roles during hospital-to-home transitions, including:

- helping the care team identify the health and social needs of older adults (and the needs of the caregivers who will be providing care at home);
- taking notes and asking questions;
- providing emotional support;
- accompanying older adults to medical appointments;
- reporting or managing side effects;
- giving medication;
- keeping track of medicines, test results and papers;
- providing physical care (for example, feeding, dressing and bathing);
- coordinating home and community care, primary care and specialty care;
- advocating for access to necessary care;
- · keeping family and friends informed; and

• making legal and financial arrangements.

Despite their crucial role, caregivers often feel unprepared to provide care at home.(15) Caregivers are increasingly asked to perform complex medical treatments such as tube feedings, wound care and injections, in addition to at-home tasks such as laundry, meal preparation and cleaning. Many caregivers report receiving little guidance or coaching from healthcare providers about how to manage the care of their loved one before discharge, and on an ongoing basis. This results in feeling unprepared to self-manage their health, resulting in distress and anxiety. The more complexity the person caregivers are supporting displays, the greater these negative feelings tend to be.(61; 64) This aligns with findings from a recent Canadian study which concluded that caregivers viewed supporting their loved ones with managing multiple chronic conditions as "overwhelming, draining and complicated" and "being split into pieces."(45)

In addition to the perceived lack of preparedness, caregivers face barriers to accessing practical, social, emotional, and financial support that can affect hospital-to-home transitions.(15; 62; 64) A report by Ontario Health, Quality Business Unit revealed that more than one in four individuals receiving care at home were relying on a caregiver who experienced "continued distress, anger or depression in relation to their caregiving role."(65) Caregivers of older adults with multiple chronic conditions and Alzheimer's disease are known to experience very complex and distressing transitions. Studies have shown that they must take on complex, new roles and responsibilities, must deal with responsive behaviours/personal expressions associated with dementia, and often feel isolated.(66-68)

This lack of support can have a negative impact on the physical and mental health of caregivers, their personal and professional lives, and the quality of care that they provide during hospital-to-home transitions. As reported by a discussion forum of Canada's leading cancer, mental health and caregiver groups: "Failure to recognize, acknowledge and support family caregivers heightens their risk of becoming 'collateral casualties' of the illness, compromises their health, reduces the efficacy of the help they can provide to their relatives, and increases costs to the health and social service systems." (69)

The health system is not currently designed to support older adults with complex health and social needs during hospital-to-home transitions

Several system-level factors make it difficult to support older adults with complex health or social needs (and their caregivers) during hospital-to-home transitions. These include challenges related to: governance arrangements (who can make what types of decisions); financial arrangements (how money flows from taxpayers to government to organizations and professionals); and delivery arrangements (how care is organized). We discuss each of these in further detail below (Table 3).

Table 3. System-level challenges

Challenge	Example/description of the challenge
Governance arrangements (who can make what types of decisions)	 Jurisdictional complexity Decision-making authority for addressing the many health and social needs of older adults often spans a wide range of government departments (Ministry of Health, Ministry of Long-Term Care, and Ministry for Seniors and Accessibility) and different levels of governments (for example, municipal, provincial and federal). This complex mosaic of players and the interactions between them make integrated and coordinated policy and programmatic approaches to hospital-to-home transitions difficult. Lack of data about hospital-to-home transitions While there is a growing body of data from patient- and caregiver-experience surveys and home-care need assessments (e.g., interRAI),(15; 19) data is not routinely collected to understand what happens to older adults with complex health and social needs (and their caregivers) after being discharged (and beyond hospital readmissions).

	• Much of the data being collected are about providers and not about patient-reported experiences and patient-relevant outcomes, caregivers, or about the broader social determinants of health.		
	• Current data systems are not connected to each other and are not interoperable.		
Financial	Older adults and their caregivers may face an additional financial burden during hospital-to-		
arrangements (how	home transitions		
money flows from taxpayers to government to organizations and professionals)	• Older adults and their caregivers may have to pay for home- and community-care supports (such as rehabilitation, therapy, a home-care nurse, personal-support worker), which may not be available in their region, along with other expenses (e.g., assistive devices, home modifications, transportation to appointments).(15; 19)		
	• Informal and family caregivers are losing out on earning income and are using their retirement savings to support caregiving. It is estimated that there are more than two million unpaid caregivers in Canada (70-71) and the estimated economic value of their contributions is in the range of \$25 billion per year.(72) Financial support for caregivers remains limited.		
	How doctors are paid is not conducive to support integrated and comprehensive care		
	 Many doctors are paid for each separate service they provide, which is not conducive to supporting integrated care for patients with complex health and social needs, and may promote fragmentation in the system. (73) 		
	How hospitals are funded is not conducive to support the patients back in the community		
	• Current funding models for hospitals in Ontario do not create incentives to support patients in the community.		
	The home- and community-care sector is underfunded		
	• Due to limited funding, home- and community-care resources are very limited and have restrictive eligibility criteria.(15; 19; 74)		
	• Home and community care is funded separately from hospital care. When hospitals save money for		
	shorter lengths of stay, it may increase the costs for the home- and community-care sector.		
	Financial burden on the broader health system		
1	 High-needs users (some of whom are older adults with complex health and social needs) have a significant financial impact on the health system in Ontario. 		
	• It is estimated that 1% of the population accounts for 33% of healthcare costs, and 5% accounts for 66% of healthcare costs.(75)		
	• This illustrates how important it is to identify the characteristics of high-need users, proactively reach out to them, and find more cost-effective ways to provide the care they need.		
Delivery	Older adults with complex needs are not always identified when being admitted and before		
arrangements (how	being discharged from hospital		
care is organized)	• Delirium and depression among older adults admitted to hospitals is often unrecognized and untreated. And even when it is recognized, it often goes untreated. (76) This may lead to poor quality of life and increased use of health services.		
	• However, there is some progress on that front. InterRAI systems exist for acute care that start with triaging in the emergency departments in order to identify those who should have a comprehensive assessment right away in the hospital. That way, frail older adults are less likely to have delirium and functional decline, and thus the transition should be improved.		
	Older adults with complex health and social needs (and their caregivers) are not always engaged meaningfully in planning their transition back home		
	• There are often organizational pressures to discharge patients rapidly (resulting in limited capacity to meaningfully engage patients and caregivers in conversations about hospital-to-home transitions).		
	• Hospital discharge is often planned around a single problem (usually a physical problem), as opposed to considering the wide range of health and social needs a person may be experiencing.		
	• Providers do not always engage older adults and their caregivers in decisions related to their health and care.		
	• Many older adults and their caregivers report not being involved in decision-making about their health and care. The barriers that are the most cited are:		
	o time constraints;		
	o providers thinking that it is not necessary given the patient's situation;		
	o patients not expecting to be engaged or being afraid to upset their providers; and		

• The lack of meaningful engagement can result in unmet needs once home.

o providers lacking the skills to engage their patients in decisions about their own care.(77)

• It is difficult for providers and organizations (for example, home and community care) to develop comprehensive and customized packages of care and services based on older adults' complex needs and their ability to pay.

The health system is not currently designed to provide integrated care for people with complex health and social needs at home

- Older adults with multiple chronic conditions often receive care that is fragmented. (78-79) For instance, a patient with diabetes, multiple sclerosis and emphysema may need to seek care from different doctors for each condition. These doctors may be in different settings and may not effectively communicate with each other, (73) which increases the risks of medical errors, poor communication with patients (and across providers), and poor care coordination. (80)
- Patients and caregivers often report having short appointments with their primary-care providers, which they deem not sufficient for patients with multiple chronic conditions and complex needs, limiting the provision of optimal care and support for self-management.(81)
- There are many silos in the system: silos between those providing healthcare and social care; silos between different sectors (for example, between hospital care, primary care, and home and community care); and even silos within each sector (for example, silos between organizations providing home and community care).

Older adults and caregivers are often not provided with adequate information to enable them to engage in their own health and their own care after transitioning to their own home

- Older adults and caregivers have limited access to their health information, and when they do have
 access to information it is difficult to understand and use. However, progress in this regard is being
 made with the growing availability of MyChart and Patient Oriented Discharge Summaries (PODS)
 used in many hospitals.(82-83)
- Older adults and their caregivers often receive conflicting information (particularly those who are managing multiple chronic conditions and receiving care from many different providers in different settings).
- Older adults and caregivers are often unaware of the home and community care available to them and how to access these services.

The pressures being placed on the health- and social-systems to respond to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic affect hospital-to-home transitions

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has put pressures on health and social systems, organizations, providers, patients and caregivers. Several decisions have been made to respond to the pandemic that have affected hospital-to-home transitions for all patients, including those without COVID-19. These include decisions related to public-health measures (e.g., infection prevention and control measures, such as restrictive visitor policies in hospitals), clinical management of COVID-19 and related health issues (e.g., unmanaged chronic conditions, mental health issues, and family violence), health-system arrangements (e.g., when and how to restart ambulatory clinics, cancer treatments, and elective procedures, and how to prioritize the use of virtual care), and the economic and social responses (e.g., financial protection, food safety and security, housing, recreation and transportation).(84)

While we are only beginning to appreciate the impacts of COVID-19, many of these impacts may continue post-COVID.(85) Examples of impacts of COVID-19 on hospital-to-home transitions are outlined in Table 4.

Table 4. The impact the COVID-19 pandemic may have on hospital-to-home transitions (85)

Impact	Example		
Impact on various	Reducing length of hospital stays		
sectors	 In some cases, hospitals may have discharged patients without COVID-19 more rapidly to reduce the risk of infection and be ready for a surge in hospital admission. These shorter hospital stays may have also reduced: access to inpatient rehabilitation services; and 		
	o the discharge-planning period.		
	• Shorter lengths of stay may mean that the care needs of the person going home may be higher, but the community system may be less able to meet their needs.		
	Shorter lengths of stay make it more difficult to engage older adults and families in discharge planning.		
	• Due to restrictive visitor policies, it is harder to engage caregivers in discharge planning. This is particularly challenging if there are language barriers or if older adults are not able to fully engage in discharge planning due to their health conditions (e.g., Alzheimer's and other dementias).		
	Reducing access to primary care and other community-based services		
	Public-health measures (e.g., physical distancing, confinement) and system changes (e.g., cancellation or suspension of routine and ongoing care) to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic exacerbated existing issues with timely access to primary care and community-based services, as well as care coordination and integration.		
Impact on treatments	Unmanaged or under-managed chronic conditions		
	The pandemic resulted in the cancellation or suspension of routine and ongoing care for many people.		
	 Many people did not seek care because they were afraid of contracting COVID-19. The impact of reduced access may be exacerbated among the most vulnerable populations. 		
	Shifting to virtual care		
	 COVID-19 prompted a shift from in-person to virtual care to meet patient needs and reduce risk of disease transmission. While virtual care may improve access for some, many challenges remain for older adults, caregivers and providers. These challenges may exacerbate health inequities:(86) lack of reliable internet access; 		
	 lack of knowledge and skills to use technology (e.g., challenges connecting may lead to less time to discuss concerns, challenges in scheduling/re-scheduling appointments); lack of affordability of technology; and 		
	o challenges in discussing/assessing conditions virtually.		
	• If older adults are residing in retirement homes, policies in place may restrict in-person visits, thus family caregivers are forced to carry out their caregiving roles and responsibilities from a distance.		
Impact on conditions	New and exacerbated mental health issues		
implet on conditions	The pandemic created psychological challenges such as increased social isolation and the onset or worsening of mental health issues, such as depression, dementia, anxiety, substance abuse (for both older adults and caregivers)		
	Many mental health services have been reduced, cancelled, or modified to online delivery to address physical distancing requirements.		
Impact on specific	Restricting mobility		
populations	COVID-19 pandemic restricted mobility in various ways: restricted community mobility which contributed to a loss of social support; and		
	o reduced physical mobility of older adults who were confined to the home, which has an impact on sarcopenia, frailty, ability to enact chronic disease self-management strategies, and rehabilitation post-discharge from hospital.		
	Exacerbating social isolation		

• Infection prevention and control measures (e.g., confinement, physical distancing, those discharged to seniors' residences must self-isolate within their room for 14 days) may have exacerbated social isolation of older adults with complex health and social needs.

Exacerbating caregiver burden

- Greater stress, burnout, depression, anxiety
- Greater social isolation
- Difficulty securing basic goods (for example, grocery shopping, cleaning supplies)
- Reduction in health and social service availability that can support caregivers (e.g., respite care is non-existent)

Keeping the home as a safe environment being difficult and stressful

- The use of masks (and other personal protective equipment)
 - o There are issues with comfort, reliability and safety
- Physical distancing
 - o Possible between care providers and caregiver, but difficult between patient and care providers
 - o Inability to engage broader family/friend network outside of home
- Cleanliness and disinfecting
 - Concerns about care providers coming into the home to provide service (where have they been, have they been exposed to COVID-19)
 - o Disinfecting everything the care provider touches
 - o Hand washing

Exacerbating ageism and intergenerational divisions since the beginning of the pandemic:

- Often portrayed as vulnerable, frail, helpless and unable to contribute to society (87)
- Ageism can have dire consequences, especially during pandemics:
 - o undermine social cohesion and cause possible isolation of certain groups
 - lead people to hide that they are infected with the virus to avoid being discriminated against;
 and
 - prevent them from seeking care when in need, or discourage them from adopting healthy behaviours.(87-89)

Bringing about system changes takes time, resources and commitment from many players, including older adults, caregivers, providers, organizations and the system as a whole

There have been some promising steps taken by the government, healthcare organizations, researchers, professionals and many others to improve hospital-to-home transitions. However, major system changes take time, resources, and commitment from many players (including older adults, caregivers, providers, organizations and the system as a whole).

Below, we briefly describe two initiatives that are currently underway: 1) major health reforms that are reshaping how care is organized and delivered in Ontario; and 2) initiatives by Ontario Health, Quality Business Unit to develop quality standards in hospital-to-home transitions.

While the initiatives described below are promising and have the potential to fundamentally change for the better how patients (including older adults) transition from hospital to home, each is complex and requires several components to go right in order for them to achieve their goals for patients. As such, many Ontarians may not experience improvements for some time.

Major health reforms in Ontario

Improving hospital-to-home transitions is a high priority for the Ontario government. In 2019, the government announced a major health-system reform, which includes two key changes: 1) the creation of Ontario Health Teams in which all healthcare providers will work as one coordinated team; and 2) the creation of Ontario Health, a central organization that will oversee and coordinate all provincial agencies and

specialized provincial programs. The reforms aim to break down silos in the system, provide more integrated care, and improve care transitions.(23; 26-27)

Within a year, healthcare organizations and providers across the province have been asked to:

- consider what this change means for the delivery of health services;
- find and develop partnerships with organizations, providers, communities, patients, families and caregivers both within and external to the health system;
- develop trust and an aligned vision among these new partners (which for some teams is over 60 partners);
- define the population and priority population for which each OHT will be accountable (19 of the 29 approved OHTs have identified older adults with complexities as their year-1 priority population);
- make strategic decisions related to each of the eight <u>OHT building blocks</u> (transitions being prioritized as one of the OHT building blocks;
- complete an application and site visit with the Ministry of Health; and
- design and adopt a population-health management approach (including, care pathways, in-reach services and out-research services) for their year-1 priority population.

There are now 29 approved OHTs across the province covering a significant amount of the population, including most urban areas. Teams have thus far undertaken a tremendous amount of work in trying to transform the health system, most of which has been done without dedicated resources (either monetary or personnel). However, they are now in the process of developing and signing a Transfer Payment Accountability Agreement, which will provide much needed resources to OHTs to support the implementation of their plans.

Initiatives led by Ontario Health, Quality Business Unit

Ontario Health, Quality Business Unit, the provincial organization supporting the quality of healthcare, has lead several projects to improve hospital-to-home transitions, including:

- developing quality standards for hospital-to-home transitions;(25)
- developing data and measurement guide to support the adoption of the standards;(90)
- developing a Patient Conversation Guide to support the implementation of the standards with questions patients can ask their care team as they get ready to leave the hospital;(1) and
- spreading a tool (the Patient Oriented Discharge Summary PODS) co-developed with patients to help patients and caregivers better manage their care after leaving the hospital, which is being implemented in 27 hospitals across Ontario.(82-83)

The 'quality standards' developed by Ontario Health, Quality Business Unit focus on hospital-to-home transitions for people of all ages (not just older adults with complex health and social needs).(25) This work was completed in collaboration with healthcare providers, patients, citizens and caregivers across the province. These quality standards are 10 short statements (Table 5). These statements should:

- help patients and caregivers know what to expect from hospital-to-home transitions;
- help providers know what care they should be offering (based on evidence and expert consensus); and
- help organizations evaluate and improve their performance.

Table 5. Quality statements for hospital-to-home transitions proposed by Ontario Health, Quality Business Unit (25)

Statement	Description		
1. Information- sharing on admission	"When people are admitted to hospital, the hospital notifies their primary care and home and community care providers soon after admission via real-time electronic notification. The community-based providers then share all relevant information with the admitting team in a timely manner."		
2. Comprehensive assessment	"People receive a comprehensive assessment of their current and evolving health care and social support needs. This assessment is started early upon admission, and updated regularly throughout the hospital stay, to inform the transition plan and optimize the transition process."		
3. Patient, family and caregiver involvement in transition planning	"People transitioning from hospital to home are involved in transition planning and developing a written transition plan. If people consent to include them in their circle of care, family members and caregivers are also involved."		
4. Patient, family and caregiver education, training and support	"People transitioning from hospital to home, and their families and caregivers, have the information and support they need to manage their health after the hospital stay. Before transitioning from hospital to home, they are offered education and training to manage their health care needs at home, including guidance on medications and medical equipment."		
5. Transition plans	"People transitioning from hospital to home are given a written transition plan (which can reside fully within the discharge summary), developed by and agreed upon in partnership with the patient, any involved caregivers, the hospital team, and the home and community care team, before leaving hospital. Transition plans are shared with primary care and home and community care providers within 48 hours of discharge."		
6. Coordinated transitions	"People admitted to hospital have a named health care professional who is responsible for timely transition planning, coordination, and communication. Before people leave hospital, this person ensures an effective transfer of transition plans and information related to people's care."		
7. Medication review and support	"People transitioning from hospital to home have medication reviews on admission, before returning home, and once they are home. These reviews include information regarding medication reconciliation, adherence, and optimization, as well as how to use their medications and how to access their medications in the community. People's ability to afford out-of-pocket medication costs are considered, and options are provided for those unable to afford these costs."		
8. Coordinated follow-up medical care	"People transitioning from hospital to home have follow-up medical care with their primary care provider and/or a medical specialist coordinated and booked before leaving hospital. People with no primary care provider are provided with assistance to find one."		
9. Appropriate and timely support for home and community care	"People transitioning from hospital to home are assessed for the type, amount, and appropriate timing of home care and community services they and their caregivers need. These services are arranged before people leave hospital and are in place when they return home."		
10. Out-of-pocket costs and limits of funded services	"People transitioning from hospital to home have their ability to pay for any out-of-pocket health care costs assessed by the health care team, and alternatives for unaffordable costs are considered in transition plans. The health care team explains to people what publicly funded services are available to them and what services they will need to pay for."		

Additional equity-related observations about the problem

An important element that requires further discussion is how the problem may disproportionately affect certain groups. For instance, evidence shows that many groups face significant service gaps in Ontario, including:

- Indigenous groups;
- francophone communities;
- refugees and new Canadians (who may also not be fluent in English);
- lower socio-economic populations;
- lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBTQ);

- homeless;
- marginalized and vulnerable;
- uninsured;
- unattached to primary care; and
- people in supportive care/long-term care.(91)

With respect to improving hospital-to-home transitions in Ontario, many of these groups warrant attention. However, as mentioned earlier, this evidence brief focuses on two groups for illustrative purposes: 1) older adults with multiple chronic conditions and co-occurring mental health conditions); and 2) older adults living in rural, remote and northern areas.

Those with multiple chronic conditions and co-occurring mental health conditions

Individuals' minds and bodies are affected by physiological changes that come with aging and the presence of chronic conditions. Chronic conditions have a reciprocal relationship with mental conditions, whereby those with chronic conditions are more likely to experience mental conditions, and vice versa. People living with mental conditions often develop co-existing chronic conditions as a result of both the illness itself and consequences of treatment. Among older adults with multimorbidity, the most common co-occurring mental health conditions are anxiety, depression, mild cognitive impairment, Alzheimer's and other forms of dementia.

The co-occurrence of mental health and addictions compounds the already complex transitions process in four significant ways.

- Current models of care that are relied on for hospital-to-home transitions place a significant focus on self-management and support from caregivers. However, it is more complex supporting older adults with multiple chronic conditions and co-occurring mental health conditions.
- The co-occurrence of mental health conditions with chronic conditions can have significant impact on the
 ability to engage older adults and their caregivers in their own health and care, as well as in the planning of
 hospital-to-home transitions.
- There is relatively little that has been written on older adults with multiple chronic conditions and cooccurring mental health conditions. In fact, these individuals are often excluded from studies about transitions from hospital to home, limiting our understanding of their experiences or how best to provide care.
- Caregivers of older adults with multiple chronic conditions and co-occurring Alzheimer's disease experience significant, complex and distressing transitions (for example, changes to their environment, roles and relationships, physical and mental health, isolation, and taking on new tasks).(66-68)

Those in rural, remote and northern areas

Residents of rural, remote and northern communities often experience poorer health, greater poverty and higher mortality rates than urban populations. (92) When compounded with social forces including economic disparity, rural and remote populations are almost three times as likely as high-income Canadians to have multiple chronic health conditions.

This population is at disproportionate risk for poor transitions from hospital to home, which is exacerbated by a lack of diverse health and social workers across rural, remote, and northern Ontario. Hospital-to-home transitions are particularly complex for them. As described earlier, those living with multiple chronic conditions often require care from many health- and social-care providers working across different settings. However in rural, remote and northern communities, these professionals are often at a significant distance from one another and may not communicate effectively. These gaps and shortage of providers, particularly in remote communities, result in sporadic, inconsistent, and long wait times for patients, especially when receiving home and community care. As a result, patients may be expected to travel significant distances to receive follow-up care, and caregivers need to take on a significant amount of the care provided to the individual. However, many residents, particularly in areas of northeastern Ontario, are geographically isolated

and, weather dependent, it may not be possible to reach individuals. Families are often forced to place their older family members prematurely in long-term care facilities, outside of their communities, as care is not locally available, providing further disruptions following hospital discharge.

Citizens' views about key challenges related to supporting older adults with complex health and social needs during hospital-to-home transitions

One citizen panel – which engaged a diverse group of 12 citizens (in terms of age, gender, ethnocultural background and socio-economic status) – was convened in Hamilton (Ontario) on 15 November 2019. The panel consisted of older adults with complex needs (seven out of eight), and caregivers of older adults with complex needs (three out of four) from across the province. Panellists were provided with a plain-language version of the evidence brief prior to the citizen panel, which served as an input into citizens' deliberations.(22; 93)

During the deliberation about the problem, citizens were asked to share what they perceived to be the main challenges to engaging older adults with complex health and social needs, and their caregivers, to improve hospital-to-home transitions in Ontario. To do so, they were asked to look back over a hospital-to-home transition they (or a loved one) experienced and identify experiences at the hospital and back home that affected the transition (both positive and negative experiences). They were also asked about decisions made by them (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected the transition. Lastly, they reflected on the health reforms underway in Ontario and how these could affect hospital-to-home transitions.

Panellists identified four important challenges: 1) despite some positive experiences, hospital-to-home transitions have been generally described as stressful and risky; 2) the hospital-to-home transition process is fuelled by assumptions; 3) care needs and decisional needs are hard to identify (and address); and 4) there is skepticism towards large-scale reforms to improve hospital-to-home transitions. These are all summarized in detail in Table 6.

Table 6. Summary of citizens' views about challenges

Challenge	Description		
Despite some positive experiences, hospital-to-home transitions have been generally described as stressful and risky	 Despite some positive experiences, panellists generally had the impression that hospital-to-home transitions were stressful and risky. They generally felt left to their own devices to manage their own care (or the care of their loved one), to coordinate care and to navigate the health and social systems. Panellists identified six key areas that contributed to the stress and risks associated with hospital-to-home transitions: not having community-based providers assigned to follow up with them after being discharged from hospital (e.g., the hospital-to-home transition is often dependent on individual providers who are able to go above and beyond what is expected from them; lacking an identified care coordinator at the hospital and back in the community who has the authority to properly arrange all the support needed and to make things happen); not having access to information to manage their health and care (e.g., lack of personalized information support about their current health and care, their illness trajectory and anticipating future care needs, as well as information to help them navigate the health system; professionals should recognize when directing older adults to information isn't enough (due to the older adults' conditions)); not having a comprehensive assessment before being discharged and at home (e.g., generally sent home without a comprehensive assessment, or without being asked specific questions about their other health and social needs; the care team in the hospital tended to focus on the one problem for which they were hospitalized, without a clear understanding of the complex health and social challenges that they were dealing with back home); not being engaged meaningfully in planning hospital-to-home transitions (e.g., rarely 		
	meaningfully engaged in conversations to plan hospital-to-home transitions; rarely presented		

with actual choices to make; caregivers to an older adult with complex needs revealed difficulties in engaging with fand receiving support from) providers; on treceiving timely follow-up (e.g., lack of timely follow-up after returning home which was exacerbated by breakdowns in communication and information sharing between patients, caregivers, care coordinators and eare providers); and on tall sectors have the same capacity to support hospital-to-home transitions (e.g., hospital-to-home transitions may be better managed in some sectors than others, such as sungicul care (for example, cardiac surgery, orthopedic surgery), cancer care or palliative care). Panellists pointed out that the hospital-to-home transition process is generally fuelled by assumptions made by providers, older adults and caregivers, including process in full have support from family or friends back home, when in fact for some their support network is compromised (no siblings, family members, or friends who can take acre of them, long, distance caregivers, or having to rely on involuntary caregivers such as neighbours or former spouse); assumptions that older adults will be able to access the right amount of services to meet their individual needs; assumptions that other care plan will be implemented once back home (and that care providers will be doing what they were supposed to do or what they said they would do, and work in collaboration with other providers to meet the needs of older adults will have a designated care coordinator who is actively seeking to implement the care plan); assumptions that older adults and accountability (and that all older adults will have a designated care coordinator who is actively seeking to implement the care plan); assumptions that older adults and accountability (and that all older adults will have a designated care coordinator who is actively seeking to implement the care plan); assumptions that older adults and decisions making their own decisions, whereas some may experience capitive relations	Challenge	Description
o not receiving timely follow-up (e.g., lack of timely follow-up after returning bome which was exacerbated by breakdowns in communication and information sharing between patients, caregivers, care coordinators and care providers); and o not all sectors have the same capacity to support hospital-to-home transitions (e.g., hospital-to-home transitions may be better managed in some sectors than others, such as suppical care (for example, cardiac surgery, orthopedic surgery), cancer care or palliative care) process is fuelled by assumptions readed by providers, older adults and caregivers, including: o assumptions made by providers, older adults and caregivers, including: o assumptions that the footpath of the care of them, long-distance caregivers, or having to rely on involuntary caregivers such as neighbours or former spouse); o assumptions that the care plan will be implemented once back home (and that care providers will be doing what they were supposed to door what they said they would do, and work in collaboration with other providers to meet the nexts of older adults; o assumptions that the care plan will be implemented once back home (and that care providers will be doing what they were supposed to door what they said they would do, and work in collaboration with other providers to meet the nexts of older adults; o assumptions that the care plan will be implemented once back home (and that care providers will be doing what they would do, and work in collaboration with other providers to meet the nexts of older adults; o assumptions that the care plan will be implemented once back home (and that care providers will be doing what they said they would do, and work in collaboration with other providers to meet the nexts of older adults; o assumptions that the care plan will be implemented once back home (and that care providers will be adoler adults and caregivers may not an adapt the relation of older adults); assumptions that the care late and the care of a down they said they would do, and work in collabo		
was exacerbated by breakdowns in communication and information sharing between patients, caregivers, care coordinators and care providers); and not all sectors have the same capacity to support hospital-to-home transitions (e.g., hospital-to-home transition process is fuelled by assumptions may be better managed in some sectors than others, such as support from the same capacity to support hospital-to-home transition process is fuelled by assumptions made by providers, older adults and caregivers, cancer care or palliative care). Parellists pointed out that the hospital-to-home transition process is generally fuelled by assumptions that older adults who are discharged will have support from family or friends back home, when in fact for some their support network is compromised (no siblings, family members, or friends who can take care of them, long-distance caregivers, or having to rely on involuntary caregivers such as neighbours or former spouse); assumptions that older adults will be able to access the right amount of services to meet the right amount of services to meet the needs of older adults will have a designated care coordinator who is actively seeding to implement the care plan will be obligated and the summan and adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults with a false sense of security and control); assumptions that older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults are capable of making their own decisions, whereas some may experience coordinator while the providers to make the readults with a false sense of security and control); assumptions that older adults are capable of making their own decisions, whereas some may experience coordinate only the providers and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided		difficulties in engaging with (and receiving support from) providers);
caregivers, care coordinators and care providers); and on all sectors have the same capacity to support hospital-to-home transitions (e.g., hospital-to-home transitions may be better managed in some sectors than others, such as sturgical care (for example, cardiac surgery, orthopedic surgery), cardiac care care or palliative care). **Provess is fuelled by assumptions** **Provess is fuelled by assumptions** **Provess is fuelled by assumptions made by providers, older adults and caregivers, including: provess is fuelled by assumptions made by providers, older adults and caregivers, including: provess is fuelled by assumptions made by providers, older adults and caregivers, including: providers individual necess. **Providers** **		
on tall sectors have the same capacity to support hospital-to-home transitions (e.g., hospital-to-home transitions as surgical care (for example, cardiar surgery, orthopedic surgery), cancer care or palliative care). 4 Panellists pointed out that the hospital-to-home transition process is fuelled by assumptions made by providers, older adults and caregivers, including: 5 assumptions that older adults who are discharged will have support from family or friends back home, when in fact for some their support network is compromised (no siblings, family members, or friends who can take care of them, long-distance caregivers, or having to rely on involuntary caregivers such as neighbours or former spouse); 6 assumptions that older adults will be able to access the right amount of services to meet their individual necesi; 7 assumptions that toler adults will be able to access the right amount of services to meet the individual neces; 8 assumptions about responsibility and accountability (and that all older adults will a dise sense of security and control); 9 assumptions that older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults with a fast sense of security and control); 10 assumptions that older adults are capable of making their own decisions, whereas some may experience cognitive challenges that impair decision-making; 2 assumptions that older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults are capable of making their own decisions, whereas some may experience cognitive challenges that impair decision-making; 2 assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and 2 assumptions that older adults will be truthful in disclosing the level of support that they have at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). 4 Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions		
hospital-to-home transitions may be better managed in some sectors than others, such as surpical care (for example, cardiae surgery, cancer care or palliative care). Panellists pointed out that the hospital-to-home transition process is generally fuelled by assumptions made by providers, older adults and caregivers, including: assumptions that have a discharged will have support from family or friends back home, when in fact for some their support network is compromised (no siblings, family members, or friends who can take care of them, long-distance caregivers, or having to rely on involuntary caregivers such as neighbours or former spouse); assumptions that older adults will be able to access the right amount of services to meet their individual needs; assumptions that the care plan will be implemented once back home (and that care providers will be doing what they were supposed to do or what they said they would do, and work in collaboration with other providers to meet the needs of older adults will bare a designated care coordinator who is actively seeking to implement the care plan); assumptions that all older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults with a false sense of security and control); assumptions that older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults with a false sense of security and control); assumptions that older adults will be alter transition of making their own decisions, whereas some may experience cognitive challenges that impair decision-making; assumptions that older adults will be truthful in disclosing the level of support that they have at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). Care needs and decisional needs are hard to identify (and address) A panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected their transition		
The hospital-to-home transition process is fuelled by assumptions made by providers, older adults who are discharged will have support from family or friends when in fact for some their support network is compromised (no siblings, family members, or friends who can take care of them, long-distance caregivers, or having to rely on involuntary caregivers such as neighbours or former spouse). assumptions that older adults will be able to access the right amount of services to meet their individual needs; assumptions that the care plan will be implemented once back home (and that care providers will be doing what they were supposed to do or what they said they would do, and work in collaboration with other providers to meet the needs of older adults will have a designated care coordinator who is actively seeking to implement the care plan); assumptions that older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home has that dolder adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home has that dolder adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home that all older adults will be ruthful in disclosing the level of support that they have at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). Care needs and decisional needs are hard to identify (and address) - Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected their transition from hospital to home. They generally struggled with this question, which reflected that: - Older adults and caregivers may not have a clear picture of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions bat they should make; - Panellists were		
Pacellists pointed out that the hospital-to-home transition process is fuelled by assumptions		
assumptions made by providers, older adults and caregivers, including: assumptions assumptions that older adults who are discharged will have support from family or friends back home, when in fact for some their support network is compromised (no siblings, family members, or friends who can take care of them, long-distance caregivers, or having to rely on involuntary caregivers such as neighbours or former spouse); assumptions that older adults will be able to access the right amount of services to meet their individual needs; assumptions that the care plan will be implemented once back home (and that care providers will be doing what they were supposed to do or what they said they would do, and work in collaboration with other providers to meet the needs of older adults will have a designated care coordinator who is actively seeking to implement the care plan); assumptions that older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults will a false sense of security and continuous). assumptions that all older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults will be ruthful in disclosing the level of support that they have at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected their transition from hospital to home. They generally struggled with this question, which reflected that: older adults and caregivers may not have a clear picture of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; hospitalization can be physically and mentally overwhelming, and thus supports are needed to enable patients and caregivers may not feel	Ten 1 1 1	
sasumptions o assumptions that older adults who are discharged will have support from family or friends back home, when in fact for some their support network is compromised (no siblings, family members, or friends who can take care of them, long, distance caregivers, or having to rely on involuntary caregivers such as neighbours or former spouse); o assumptions that older adults will be able to access the right amount of services to meet their individual needs; o assumptions that the care plan will be implemented once back home (and that care providers will be doing what they were supposed to do or what they said they would do, and work in collaboration with other providers to meet the needs of older adults; will have a designated care coordinator who is actively seeking to implement the care plan); o assumptions shat older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults will be able to making their own decisions, whereas some may experience cognitive challenges that impair decision-making; o assumptions that older adults will be truthful in disclosing the level of support that they have at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). Parallelists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected that: o older adults and caregivers may not have a clear picture of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; health as a sumptions that they could play a role in making a		
by assumptions back home, when in fact for some their support network is compromised (no siblings, family members, or friends who can take care of them, long-distance caregivers, or having to rely on involuntary caregivers such as neighbours or former spouse); assumptions that older adults will be able to access the right amount of services to meet their individual needs; assumptions that older adults will be implemented once back home (and that care providers will be doing what they were supposed to do or what they said they would do, and work in collaboration with other providers to meet the needs of older adults; assumptions about responsibility and accountability (and that all older adults will have a designated care coordinator who is actively seeking to implement the care plan); assumptions that older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults with a false sense of security and control); assumptions that older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults with a false sense of security and control); assumptions that older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults will be able to manage their health continue at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). Care needs and do identify (and address) A banelists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected their transition from hospital to home the cap		
members, or friends who can take care of them, long-distance caregivers, or having to rely on involuntary caregivers such as neighbours or former spouse); assumptions that older adults will be able to access the right amount of services to meet their individual needs; assumptions that the care plan will be implemented once back home (and that care providers will be doing what they were supposed to do or what they said they would do, and work in collaboration with other providers to meet the needs of older adults; assumptions about responsibility and accountability (and that all older adults will have a designated care coordinator who is actively seeking to implement the care plan); assumptions that older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults will be able to manage their health and care for example, going back home may provide older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions providers (providers further), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected their transition from hospital to home. They generally struggled with this question, which reflected that: older adults and caregivers may	1	
involuntary caregivers such as neighbours or former spouse); assumptions that older adults will be able to access the right amount of services to meet their individual needs; assumptions that the care plan will be implemented once back home (and that care providers will be doing what they said they would do, and work in collaboration with other providers to meet the needs of older adults will have a designated care coordinator who is actively seeking to implement the care plan); assumptions about responsibility and accountability (and that all older adults will have a designated care coordinator who is actively seeking to implement the care plan); assumptions that older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults with a false sense of security and control); assumptions that older adults are capable of making their own decisions, whereas some may experience cognitive challenges that impair decision-making; assumptions that older adults and teric raregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults will be truthful in disclosing the level of support that they have at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that they decision, which reflected that: older adults and caregivers may not have a clear picture of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; hospitalization can be physically and mentally overwhelming, and thus supports are needed to enable patients and caregivers may not have a clear picture of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; health are providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decisions); and caregivers that they could play a role in making a	by assumptions	
assumptions that older adults will be able to access the right amount of services to meet their individual needs; assumptions that the care plan will be implemented once back home (and that care providers will be doing what they were supposed to do or what they said they would do, and work in collaboration with other providers to meet the needs of older adults will have a designated care coordinator who is actively seeking to implement the care plan); assumptions that older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults will a false sense of security and control); assumptions that all older adults are capable of making their own decisions, whereas some may experience cognitive challenges that impair decision-making; assumptions that older adults will be truthful in disclosing the level of support that they have at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). Care needs and decisional needs are hard to identify (and address) Care needs and decisional needs are hard to identify (and the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected their transition from hospital to home. They generally struggled with this question, which reflected that: • Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected their transition from hospital to home. They generally struggled with this question, which reflected that: • Ohospitalization can be physically and mentally overwhelming, and thus supports are needed to enable patients and caregivers may not feed radius and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (hostow when or how to speak up, to ask questions and careforms to improve hospital-to-home transitions from the make; • Panellists were asked whether or not they were aware of the health reforms underway in Ontario that could affect hospital-to-home tran		
individual needs; assumptions that the care plan will be implemented once back home (and that care providers will be doing what they were supposed to do or what they said they would do, and work in collaboration with other providers to meet the needs of older adults will have a designated care coordinator who is actively seeking to implement the care plan); assumptions that older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults with a false sense of security and control); assumptions that all older adults are capable of making their own decisions, whereas some may experience cognitive challenges that impair decision-making; assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults will be truthful in disclosing the level of support that they have at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that decisional needs are hard to identify (and address) Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that one older adults and caregivers may not feed that: older adults and caregivers may not that decisions have the capacity of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; hospitalization can be physically and mentally overwhelming, and thus supports are needed to enable patients and caregivers to make decisions about their care (as one panellist said, "I was overwhelmed prior to transition and did not know what to ask"); healthcare providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decisions); and older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered t		
 assumptions that the care plan will be implemented once back home (and that care providers will be doing what they were supposed to do or what they said they would do, and work in collaboration with other providers to meet the needs of older adults; assumptions about responsibility and accountability (and that all older adults will have a designated care coordinator who is actively seeking to implement the care plan); assumptions that older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults with a false sense of security and control); assumptions that all older adults with a false sense of security and control); assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults will be truthful in disclosing the level of support that they have at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected their transition from hospital to home. They generally struggled with this question, which reflected that: older adults and caregivers may not have a clear picture of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; hospitalization can be physically and mentally overwhelming, and thus supports are needed to enable patients and caregivers may not have a clear picture of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; healthcare providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (thus it was unclear for patients and caregivers		
will be doing what they were supposed to do or what they said they would do, and work in collaboration with other providers to meet the needs of older adults will have a designated care coordinator who is actively seeking to implement the care plan); assumptions that older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults with a false sense of security and control); assumptions that older adults are capable of making their own decisions, whereas some may experience cognitive challenges that impair decision-making; assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided they are the able to desion the expective of their bealth cognitive impairment). Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that coller adults and caregivers to make decisions about their care (as one panellist said, "I was overwhelmed prior to transition and did not know what to ask"); health care providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (thus it was unclear for patients and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual d		
collaboration with other providers to meet the needs of older adults will have a designated care coordinator who is actively seeking to implement the care plan); assumptions about responsibility and accountability (and that all older adults will have a designated care coordinator who is actively seeking to implement the care plan); assumptions that older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults with a false sense of security and control); assumptions that all older adults are capable of making their own decisions, whereas some may experience cognitive challenges that impair decision-making; assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults will be truthful in disclosing the level of support that they have at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected their transition from hospital to home. They generally struggled with this question, which reflected that: older adults and caregivers may not have a clear picture of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; older adults and caregivers to make decisions about their care (as one panellist said, "I was overwhelmed prior to transition and did not know what to ask"); healthcare providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (thus it was unclear for patients and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions; and older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered to make their care needs known to providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and clarifications, and to ask for help). **Panellists		
 assumptions about responsibility and accountability (and that all older adults will have a designated care coordinator who is actively seeking to implement the care plan); assumptions that older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults will be truthful in disclosing the level of support that they have at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected their transition from hospital to home. They generally struggled with this question, which reflected that: older adults and caregivers may not have a clear picture of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; hospitalization can be physically and mentally overwhelming, and thus supports are needed to enable patients and caregivers to make decisions about their care (as one panellist said, "I was overwhelmed prior to transition and did not know what to ask"); healthcare providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (thus it was unclear for patients and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); and older adults and to ask for help). Panellists were asked whether or not they were aware of the health reforms underway in Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists		
designated care coordinator who is actively seeking to implement the care plan); assumptions that older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults with a false sense of security and control); assumptions that all older adults are capable of making their own decisions, whereas some may experience cognitive challenges that impair decision-making; assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults will be truthful in disclosing the level of support that they have at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected their transition from hospital to home. They generally struggled with this question, which reflected that: older adults and caregivers may not have a clear picture of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; hospitalization can be physically and mentally overwhelming, and thus supports are needed to enable patients and caregivers to make decisions about their care (as one panellist said, "I was overwhelmed prior to transition and did not know what to ask."); healthcare providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (thus it was unclear for patients and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); and older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered to make their care needs known to providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and clarifications, and to ask for help). Panellists were asked whether or not they were aware of the health reforms underway in Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how th		1
 assumptions that older adults will be able to manage their health and care (for example, going back home may provide older adults with a false sense of security and control); assumptions that all older adults are capable of making their own decisions, whereas some may experience cognitive challenges that impair decision-making; assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults will be truthful in disclosing the level of support that they have at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected their transition from hospital to home. They generally struggled with this question, which reflected that: older adults and caregivers may not have a clear picture of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; hospitalization can be physically and mentally overwhelming, and thus supports are needed to enable patients and caregivers to make decisions about the care (as one panellist said, "I was overwhelmed prior to transition and did not know what to ask"); healthcare providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (hus when or how to speak up, to ask questions and clarifications, and to ask for help). There is skepticism to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism vas fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, acr		
back home may provide older adults with a false sense of security and control); assumptions that all older adults are capable of making their own decisions, whereas some may experience cognitive challenges that impair decision-making; assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults will be truthful in disclosing the level of support that they have at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected their transition from hospital to home. They generally struggled with this question, which reflected that: older adults and caregivers may not have a clear picture of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; healthcare providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (thus it was unclear for patients and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); and older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered to make their care needs known to providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); and Panellists were asked whether or not they were aware of the health reforms underway in Ontario that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). Panellists were asked whether or not they were aware of the health reforms underway in Ontario that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and		
 assumptions that all older adults are capable of making their own decisions, whereas some may experience cognitive challenges that impair decision-making; assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults will be truthful in disclosing the level of support that they have at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). Care needs and decisional needs are hard to identify (and address) Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected their transition from hospital to home. They generally struggled with this question, which reflected that:		
may experience cognitive challenges that impair decision-making; o assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and o assumptions that older adults will be truthful in disclosing the level of support that they have at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected their transition from hospital to home. They generally struggled with this question, which reflected that: o older adults and caregivers may not have a clear picture of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; hospitalization can be physically and mentally overwhelming, and thus supports are needed to enable patients and caregivers to make decisions about their care (as one panellist said, "I was overwhelmed prior to transition and did not know what to ask"); healthcare providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (thus it was unclear for patients and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); and older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered to make their care needs known to providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and clarifications, and to ask for help). There is skepticism to improve hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; the perce		
 assumptions that older adults and their caregivers would understand all the information and instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults will be truthful in disclosing the level of support that they have at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected their transition from hospital to home. They generally struggled with this question, which reflected that: older adults and caregivers may not have a clear picture of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; hospitalization can be physically and mentally overwhelming, and thus supports are needed to enable patients and caregivers to make decisions about their care (as one panellist said, "I was overwhelmed prior to transition and did not know what to ask"); healthcare providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (thus it was unclear for patients and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); and older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered to make their care needs known to providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and clarifications, and to ask for help). There is skepticism to improve hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social		
instructions provided upon discharge; and assumptions that older adults will be truthful in disclosing the level of support that they have at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected their transition from hospital to home. They generally struggled with this question, which reflected that: older adults and caregivers may not have a clear picture of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; hospitalization can be physically and mentally overwhelming, and thus supports are needed to enable patients and caregivers to make decisions about their care (as one panellist said, "I was overwhelmed prior to transition and did not know what to ask"); healthcare providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (thus it was unclear for patients and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); and older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered to make their care needs known to providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and clarifications, and to ask for help). Panellists were asked whether or not they were aware of the health reforms underway in Ontario that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example,		
 assumptions that older adults will be truthful in disclosing the level of support that they have at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment). Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected their transition from hospital to home. They generally struggled with this question, which reflected that: older adults and caregivers may not have a clear picture of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; hospitalization can be physically and mentally overwhelming, and thus supports are needed to enable patients and caregivers to make decisions about their care (as one panellist said, "I was overwhelmed prior to transition and did not know what to ask"); healthcare providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (thus it was unclear for patients and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); and older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered to make their care needs known to providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and clarifications, and to ask for help). There is skepticism towards large-scale reforms to improve hospital-to-home transitions. Panellists were eaked whether or not they were aware of the health reforms underway in Ontario that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-ho		
 Care needs and decisional needs are hard to identify (and address) Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that positively or negatively affected their transition from hospital to home. They generally struggled with this question, which reflected that: older adults and caregivers may not have a clear picture of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; hospitalization can be physically and mentally overwhelming, and thus supports are needed to enable patients and caregivers to make decisions about their care (as one panellist said, "I was overwhelmed prior to transition and did not know what to ask"); healthcare providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (thus it was unclear for patients and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); and older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered to make their care needs known to providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); and older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered to make their care needs known to providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); Panellists were asked whether or not they were aware of the health reforms underway in Ontario that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system c		
positively or negatively affected their transition from hospital to home. They generally struggled with this question, which reflected that: o older adults and caregivers may not have a clear picture of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; hospitalization can be physically and mentally overwhelming, and thus supports are needed to enable patients and caregivers to make decisions about their care (as one panellist said, "I was overwhelmed prior to transition and did not know what to ask"); healthcare providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (thus it was unclear for patients and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); and older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered to make their care needs known to providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and clarifications, and to ask for help). Panellists were asked whether or not they were aware of the health reforms underway in Ontario that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example, acute care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread		at home (or lack thereof), or have the capacity to do so (for those with cognitive impairment).
with this question, which reflected that: older adults and caregivers may not have a clear picture of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; hospitalization can be physically and mentally overwhelming, and thus supports are needed to enable patients and caregivers to make decisions about their care (as one panellist said, "I was overwhelmed prior to transition and did not know what to ask"); healthcare providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (thus it was unclear for patients and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); and older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered to make their care needs known to providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and clarifications, and to ask for help). Panellists were asked whether or not they were aware of the health reforms underway in Ontario that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example, acute care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread		• Panellists were then asked to identify the decisions made by themselves (or by someone else) that
older adults and caregivers may not have a clear picture of their health conditions and their care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; hospitalization can be physically and mentally overwhelming, and thus supports are needed to enable patients and caregivers to make decisions about their care (as one panellist said, "I was overwhelmed prior to transition and did not know what to ask"); healthcare providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (thus it was unclear for patients and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); and older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered to make their care needs known to providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and clarifications, and to ask for help). Panellists were asked whether or not they were aware of the health reforms underway in Ontario that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example, acute care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread		
care needs, and thus may be unable to identify the decisions that they should make; hospitalization can be physically and mentally overwhelming, and thus supports are needed to enable patients and caregivers to make decisions about their care (as one panellist said, "I was overwhelmed prior to transition and did not know what to ask"); healthcare providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (thus it was unclear for patients and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); and older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered to make their care needs known to providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and clarifications, and to ask for help). Panellists were asked whether or not they were aware of the health reforms underway in Ontario that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example, acute care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread		
 hospitalization can be physically and mentally overwhelming, and thus supports are needed to enable patients and caregivers to make decisions about their care (as one panellist said, "I was overwhelmed prior to transition and did not know what to ask"); healthcare providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (thus it was unclear for patients and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); and older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered to make their care needs known to providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and clarifications, and to ask for help). Panellists were asked whether or not they were aware of the health reforms underway in Ontario that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example, acute care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread 	(and address)	
enable patients and caregivers to make decisions about their care (as one panellist said, "I was overwhelmed prior to transition and did not know what to ask"); • healthcare providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (thus it was unclear for patients and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); and • older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered to make their care needs known to providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and clarifications, and to ask for help). There is skepticism towards large-scale reforms to improve hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). • They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: • a general distrust in government reforms; • the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example, acute care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and • scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread		
overwhelmed prior to transition and did not know what to ask"); healthcare providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (thus it was unclear for patients and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); and older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered to make their care needs known to providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and clarifications, and to ask for help). Panellists were asked whether or not they were aware of the health reforms underway in Ontario that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example, acute care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread		
 healthcare providers rarely engage older adults and caregivers in shared decision-making during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (thus it was unclear for patients and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); and older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered to make their care needs known to providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and clarifications, and to ask for help). Panellists were asked whether or not they were aware of the health reforms underway in Ontario that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example, acute care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread 		
during the planning of hospital-to-home transitions (thus it was unclear for patients and caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); and older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered to make their care needs known to providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and clarifications, and to ask for help). There is skepticism towards large-scale reforms to improve hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example, acute care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread		
caregivers that they could play a role in making actual decisions); and older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered to make their care needs known to providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and clarifications, and to ask for help). There is skepticism towards large-scale reforms to improve hospital-to-home transitions Panellists were asked whether or not they were aware of the health reforms underway in Ontario that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example, acute care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread		
 o older adults and caregivers may not feel empowered to make their care needs known to providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and clarifications, and to ask for help). There is skepticism towards large-scale reforms to improve hospital-to-home transitions Panellists were asked whether or not they were aware of the health reforms underway in Ontario that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example, acute care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread 		
providers (thus, they often don't know when or how to speak up, to ask questions and clarifications, and to ask for help). There is skepticism towards large-scale reforms to improve hospital-to-home transitions Panellists were asked whether or not they were aware of the health reforms underway in Ontario that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; they also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; they also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; they also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek).		
There is skepticism towards large-scale reforms to improve hospital-to-home transitions They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale skepticism was fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; they also expressed difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example, acute care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread		
There is skepticism towards large-scale reforms to improve hospital-to-home transitions Panellists were asked whether or not they were aware of the health reforms underway in Ontario that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health reforms underway in Ontario that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health reforms underway in Ontario that that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health reforms underway in Ontario that that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health reforms underway in Ontario that the capacity Health reforms underway in Ontario that that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health reforms underway in Ontario that that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health reforms underway in Ontario that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health reforms underway in Ontario that that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health reforms underway in Ontario that that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health reforms underway in Ontario that provincial health reforms underway in Ontario that the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of such capa		
towards large-scale reforms to improve hospital-to-home transitions that could affect hospital-to-home transitions (notably the creation of the new Ontario Health Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example, acute care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread	There is skenticism	**
Teams). Most panellists were not aware of such reforms and how they would affect the care they currently receive (or may seek). They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example, acute care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread		
hospital-to-home transitions • They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: • a general distrust in government reforms; • the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example, acute care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and • scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread		
 They also expressed skepticism about the capacity to make large-scale system changes to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: a general distrust in government reforms; the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example, acute care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread 		
hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. This skepticism was fuelled by three factors: o a general distrust in government reforms; the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example, acute care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread		
skepticism was fuelled by three factors: o a general distrust in government reforms; the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example, acute care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread		
 a general distrust in government reforms; the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example, acute care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread 		
 the perceived difficulty of bridging silos across providers, across settings (for example, acute care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread 		
care, primary care, home and community care, long-term care), and across sectors and levels of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and o scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread		
of governments (municipal, provincial/territorial, and federal); and o scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread		
o scarce resources (both human and financial) that limit the capacity to scale up and spread		
innovative models of hospital-to-home transitions.		innovative models of hospital-to-home transitions.

THREE ELEMENTS OF A POTENTIALLY COMPREHENSIVE APPROACH FOR ADDRESSING THE PROBLEM

Many approaches could be selected as a starting point for deliberations about improving the quality of and experience of hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs (and their caregivers) in Ontario. To promote discussion about the pros and cons of potentially viable approaches, we have selected three elements of a larger, more comprehensive approach. The three elements were developed and refined through consultation with the Steering Committee and key informants who we interviewed during the development of this evidence brief. The elements are:

- 1) enabling older adults and their caregivers to play a role in their own care during hospital-to-home transitions;
- 2) enabling providers to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions; and
- 3) enabling decision-makers to make small yet rapid changes to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions.

The elements could be pursued separately or simultaneously, or components could be drawn from each element to create a new (fourth) element. They are presented separately to foster deliberations about their respective components, the relative importance or priority of each, their interconnectedness and potential of or need for sequencing, and their feasibility.

The principal focus in this section is on what is known about these elements based on findings from systematic reviews. We present the findings from systematic reviews along with an appraisal of whether their methodological quality (using the AMSTAR tool) (9) is high (scores of 8 or higher out of a possible 11), medium (scores of 4-7) or low (scores less than 4) (see the appendix for more details about the quality-appraisal process). We also highlight whether they were conducted recently, which we define as the search being conducted within the last five years. In the next section, the focus turns to the barriers to adopting and implementing these elements, and to possible implementation strategies to address the barriers.

Citizens' values and preferences related to the three approach elements

We included in the citizen brief the same three elements of a potentially comprehensive approach to address the problem as are included in this evidence brief. These elements were used as a jumping-off point for the panel deliberations. During the deliberations we identified

Box 4: Mobilizing research evidence about approach elements for addressing the problem

The available research evidence about approach elements for addressing the problem was sought from Health Systems Evidence (www.healthsystemsevidence.org), which is a continuously updated database containing more than 8,500 systematic reviews and more than 2,800 economic evaluations of delivery, financial and governance arrangements within health systems, and from Social Systems Evidence (www.socialsystemsevidence.org), which is a continuously updated database containing more than 3,500 systematic reviews and more than 360 economic evaluations about strengthening 20 government sectors and program areas. The reviews and economic evaluations were identified by searching the databases for reviews addressing features of each element.

The authors' conclusions were extracted from the reviews whenever possible. Some reviews contained no studies despite an exhaustive search (i.e., they were 'empty' reviews), while others concluded that there was substantial uncertainty about the approach element based on the identified studies. Where relevant, caveats were introduced about these authors' conclusions based on assessments of the reviews' quality, the local applicability of the reviews' findings, equity considerations, and relevance to the issue. (See the appendices for a complete description of these assessments.)

Being aware of what is not known can be as important as being aware of what is known. When faced with an empty review, substantial uncertainty, or concerns about quality and local applicability or lack of attention to equity considerations, primary research could be commissioned, or an approach element could be pursued and a monitoring and evaluation plan designed as part of its implementation. When faced with a review that was published many years ago, an updating of the review could be commissioned if time allows.

No additional research evidence was sought beyond what was included in the systematic review. Those interested in pursuing a particular approach element may want to search for a more detailed description of the approach element or for additional research evidence about the approach element. several values and preferences from citizens in relation to these elements, which we summarize in Table 7.

Table 7. Summary of citizens' values and preferences related to the three elements

Element	Values expressed	Preferences for how to implement the element
Enabling older adults and their caregivers to play a role in their own care during hospital-to-home transitions	 engagement empowerment holistic person- and family-centred adaptability collaboration accountability 	 older adults with complex needs and their caregivers have a right to be engaged in decisions that will affect their lives (along a spectrum of engagement from no engagement, collaboration, partnership and advocacy) there is a need to empower older adults and caregivers to take part in decisions related to their health and care (to enable this, care providers should value shared decision-making, and older adults and caregivers should have access to trustworthy information) there is a need for holistic transition plans that consider the wide range of health and social needs of older adults and caregivers transition plans (and the information support about the plans) must be adaptable and tailored to the care needs and decisional needs of older adults and their caregivers (as opposed to large, generic phonebook-style guides that may be hard to navigate and use given their specific conditions) there is a need for greater collaboration with providers and peers to answer their pressing questions in a timely fashion (e.g., a contact person who could have small one-minute discussions) there is a need to be equipped with concrete tools to hold providers accountable (e.g., a checklist detailing the entire transition process, or proper mechanisms and key contacts if things do not go as planned)
Enabling providers to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions	 collaboration (between patients, caregivers and providers, as well as between caregivers and their peers) proactive realistic openness accountability 	 there is a need for greater collaboration between patients, caregivers and providers, as well as between caregivers and their peers (as opposed to the pervasive "us versus them" mentality) providers should be proactive in offering health promotion, prevention and maintenance support, rather than responding reactively when individuals become very unwell (these individuals may be socially isolated and may not proactively seek care) patients and caregivers must have realistic expectations about what providers can do to improve hospital-to-home transitions (may need to find solutions within the confine of existing, yet scarce resources) relevant patient information needs to be easily accessible to all providers, including personal-support workers (in order to proactively raise red flags, and support better care coordination and communication across providers) there is a need for mechanisms to support providers (and provider organizations) to better monitor the hospital-to-home transition process
Enabling decision- makers to make small yet rapid	person- and family-centredinnovationopennessaccountability	 a rapid-learning system should be guided by the needs and priorities of patients and caregivers innovative models of hospital-to-home transitions could and should be adopted more rapidly across the

changes to improve the quality of hospital-to-	province (e.g., a central provincial agency should develop a team of trainers who are not bound geographically and could support the adoption of the innovation across the province)
home transitions	 there is a need for greater openness in sharing successes and failures (and thus need to nurture a culture of transparency and candor among system leaders) there is a need for greater accountability in three ways: those who are accountable/responsible to bring
	about change should have the necessary authority to make the change happen; o there needs to be clear communication mechanisms in place to inform the public (e.g., public-reporting mechanisms) about the changes and to help them monitor progress
	o there needs to be a set of indicators to monitor progress (e.g., hospital readmission rates, perception of seamless transition, perceived health status, patient/caregiver satisfaction and provider satisfaction).

Element 1 – Enabling older adults and their caregivers to play a role in their own care during hospital-to-home transitions

This element aims to identify effective strategies to enable older adults with complex health and social needs (and their caregivers) to play a role in their own care during hospital-to-home transitions (and well beyond the post-discharge period). These might include:

- strategies to empower older adults and caregivers to feel confident to take part in planning the hospital-to-home transition with the care team, and also confident to support care at home;
- concrete tools to enable older adults and their caregivers to engage in conversations about hospital-to-home transitions (for example, the <u>Patient Conversation Guide</u> being developed by Ontario Health, Quality Business Unit) or provide them with clear instructions to know how to manage at home once discharged (for example, the <u>Patient-Oriented Discharge Summary</u> [PODS] used in 27 hospitals across Ontario); and
- strategies to develop the skills of older adults and their caregivers to manage their own health and care (known as 'self-management' or 'self-care' skills).

Key findings from the citizen panel

During the discussion about their roles and the supports needed to play these roles, seven values-related themes emerged (Table 7). The first value-related theme emerging from the deliberation was 'engagement'. Panellists generally agreed that older adults with complex needs and their caregivers have a right to be engaged in decisions that will affect their lives (including treatment decisions and decisions related to hospital-to-home transitions). However, participants talked about a wide range of 'engagement': no engagement, collaboration, partnership and advocacy. On one end of the spectrum, some older adults and their caregivers may not be capable or confident to engage in their own health and care. For instance, some may not have the cognitive or physical capacity to understand or use the instructions provided to them, or some caregivers may not be capable of (or comfortable) implementing the new care plan back home. Most panellists indicated that older adults and caregivers should be collaborators or partners within the care team. On the other end of the spectrum, many panellists saw their role as advocates in defending the rights of older adults with complex needs (and their caregivers) to ensure they receive optimal care.

The second value-related theme was empowerment. Panellists generally agreed about the need to empower older adults and caregivers to take part in decisions related to their health and care. To enable this, care providers should value shared decision-making, and older adults and caregivers should have access to trustworthy information allowing them to make the right decisions about their health and care. As one panellist said: "I need to get an advance copy of [a guide describing] what it would look like. I like to ruminate and then have an opportunity to sit down and interrogate the care team. I may not be able to receive the information when I'm sedated." This shows how empowerment is intimately linked with the first value-related theme: there can't be meaningful engagement if there is no empowerment.

The third and fourth values-related themes were holistic, and person- and family-centred. Panellists wanted to help develop holistic transition plans that considered the wide range of health and social needs of older adults, as well as those of caregivers. As one panellist said: "As a caregiver, I'm quite happy to get instructions about what to do and how to do it . . . but there needs to be an element that considers myself as a caregiver. [The transition plan must] consider my ability to do what you're asking me to do."

The fifth value-related theme was adaptability. The transition plan (and the information support about the transition plan) must be adaptable and tailored to the care needs and decisional needs of older adults and their caregivers. Panellists were reluctant to receive large, generic phonebook-style guides that may be hard to navigate and use given their specific conditions. Panellists emphasized that older adults and caregivers have varying levels of health literacy and different cultural considerations, and thus information supports should be adapted to diverse needs (whether these are websites, mobile applications, or helplines).

The sixth value-related theme was collaboration, particularly with providers and peers. Panellists expected greater collaboration with both groups to answer their pressing questions in a timely fashion (for example, a contact person who could have small one-minute discussions), as opposed to being directed to the emergency department. Some panellists envisioned a much greater role from peers who could help them navigate the program and services available, share their own experiences, and provide support and mentorship to caregivers. One panellist said: "[Peers can] teach you what they have learned along the way [as caregivers], sometimes the hard way." A second panellist went further: "Peer support may be about other things than care, it's care for me [as a caregiver]."

The seventh value-related theme was accountability. Several panellists indicated the need to be equipped with concrete tools (for example, a checklist detailing the entire transition process, or proper mechanisms and key contacts if things do not go as planned) to hold providers accountable if things do not go as planned. One panellist explained how she developed her own checklists to monitor the hospital-to-home transition process, along with the home and community care required by her loved one.

Key findings from the synthesized research evidence

We found several reviews relevant to element 1. Research evidence reveals the importance of engaging patients and caregivers in discharge planning,(94) as well as improving the knowledge, attitudes, skills, behaviours and assets to empower caregivers.(64) There is also research evidence supporting the use of discharge tools that are co-designed with patients,(95) which seems consistent with preliminary findings about the Patient-Oriented Discharge Summary currently being implemented in Ontario.(83) Lastly, there are many systematic reviews examining various self-management interventions. However, these reviews generally focus on self-management for single conditions (for example, diabetes or cardiovascular diseases). While reviews of

self-management for single conditions are important, they do not address the complexity involved with self-management for older adults with multiple chronic health conditions. Only one review focused specifically on older adults with multiple chronic conditions and found mixed results about the effectiveness of self-management. (96)

A summary of the key findings from the synthesized research evidence is provided in Table 8. For those who want to know more about the systematic reviews contained in Table 8 (or obtain citations for the reviews), a fuller description of the systematic reviews is provided in Appendix 1.

Table 8: Summary of key findings from systematic reviews relevant to Element 1 – Enabling older adults and their caregivers to play a role in their own care during hospital-to-home transitions

Category of finding	Summary of key findings
Benefits	Strategies to empower caregivers
Benefits	 A recent rapid synthesis identified many examples of the types of knowledge, attitudes, skills, behaviours and assets that caregivers need to feel empowered: knowledge (e.g., understanding the patient's condition and medical history, knowing how to manage specific conditions, understanding the process of transition, knowing what community services are available, understanding the health system and roles of the different providers); attitudes (e.g., self-efficacy, self-esteem, positive attitudes towards the patients, resiliency, and affirmation); skills (e.g., skills in providing personal care, note-taking skills, coping skills, advocacy skills, problem-solving skills); behaviours (e.g., encouraging social participation, making house adaptations, making lifestyle adaptations); and assets (e.g., ensuring the home is close to services, and having access to benefits that could lessen the financial burden).(64) A recent, high-quality review found that discharge-planning interventions with caregiver integration were associated with: shorter time to readmission; shorter re-hospitalization; and lower costs of post discharge care.(94)
	Strategies to provide discharge tools
	 One systematic review examined the effectiveness of discharge tools that are developed for patients. (95) The review found that: the use of discharge tools with media and visual aids improved patient understanding of instructions; and involving patients in the design and delivery of discharge tools also improved patient understanding of instructions.
	 No systematic review examined the Patient-Oriented Discharge Summary currently being implemented in Ontario, but it is currently being evaluated by a randomized controlled trial. Previous evaluations have found that: 93% of patients reported understanding their medications upon discharge and 85% reported understanding what to do if concerned; 98% of patients and 86% of providers found the tool useful and would recommend its use; and there was a 4% reduction in 30-day hospital readmission rate during the period that the tool was implemented.(83)
	Strategies to develop self-management skills We found one systematic review examining the effectiveness of patient-oriented interventions for managing multiple chronic conditions. (96) These included

D. c. ill	educational interventions and support for self-management (for example, supporting self-management with focus on diet and physical activity, or group-based support programs for people with multiple chronic conditions). The review revealed mixed findings, but overall interventions that are not linked to healthcare delivery are less effective. Other reviews found that the following self-management interventions were beneficial (but they focused on self-management for single conditions): patient education; family interventions; information and communication technology (for example, home telehealth and telemonitoring); home-based support; and interventions aimed at supporting appropriate medicine use by patients.(29)
Potential harms	None identified
Costs and/or cost- effectiveness in relation to the status quo	None identified
Uncertainty regarding benefits and potential harms (so monitoring and evaluation could be warranted if the option were pursued)	 Uncertainty because no systematic reviews were identified Not applicable Uncertainty because no studies were identified despite an exhaustive search as part of a systematic review Not applicable – no 'empty' reviews were identified No clear message from studies included in a systematic review Not applicable
Key elements of the	Strategies to empower caregivers and strategies to develop self-management skills
policy option if it was tried elsewhere	 A recent, medium-quality review identified several factors for positive hospital-to-home transitions, including: assessment and planning; information and education; preparation of the home environment; the involvement of the older adults and caregivers; supporting self-management in the discharge process; and follow-up care processes at home.(60)
Stakeholders' views and	Strategies to empower caregivers
experience	 An older, low-quality review examining person-centredness in the community care of older people suggests that older people may prefer less overt approaches to directing care (e.g., decisional autonomy over executional (implementation) autonomy).(97) One review is being planned, which will examine older adults' experiences of patient involvement in transitional care.(98)

Element 2 – Enabling providers to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions

This element focuses on identifying strategies to support individual providers (or providers working as a team) to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions. These might include:

- strategies designed to support providers to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions (e.g., having a designated transition coordinator);
- strategies to help providers to proactively identify older adults with complex health and social needs in their community using available data and other means (in order to reach out to them before they are hospitalized); and
- strategies to engage older adults and caregivers as advisors to healthcare organizations to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions.

Key findings from the citizen panel

There were five values-related themes that emerged during the discussion about element 2 (Table 7). The first value-related theme that emerged was collaboration (between patients, caregivers and providers, as well as between caregivers and their peers). A few panellists indicated that there was a pervasive "us versus them" mentality between providers and patients/families in the health system, which was not conducive to collaborative care. There was a need to address this perception in order to enable providers to improve hospital-to-home transitions.

The second value-related theme was proactivity. Panellists indicated that providers should be proactive in offering health promotion, prevention and maintenance support, rather than responding reactively when individuals become very unwell or when a crisis occurs. Proactive support appeared essential, given the complexity of health and social needs of older adults, but also the concern that these individuals may be socially isolated and may not proactively seek care. As one panellist said: "We have a decent system in dental health. They are sending postcards every six months. They are not waiting for your teeth to fall out." Panellists recommended a similar approach be adopted across health and social systems.

The third value-related theme was having realistic expectations about what providers can do to improve hospital-to-home transitions. Panellists generally agreed that there are not enough publicly funded services to meet people's needs, and a shortage of providers may be one factor contributing to this problem. While some called for greater public funding to increase the number of providers, others argued that it was not a realistic solution. One panellist insisted that we needed to find solutions within the confine of existing (yet scarce) resources: "There is a huge problem in this province with a looming deficit. (...) We need to be realistic and not expect that we can throw money and get more providers." Thus, they called for new models of care that could prioritize this issue and allow providers to engage in conversations with patients and caregivers, provide individual coaching, or engage in quality-improvement efforts.

The fourth value-related theme was openness. Panellists acknowledged that relevant patient information needed to be easily accessible to all providers, including personal-support workers. They indicated that personal-support workers were in a unique situation with regular contact with older adults and caregivers. If they were better informed about the complex health and social needs of older adults, they could proactively raise red flags with home- and community-care providers. Personal-support workers could play a key role as part of the care team to support care coordination and communication across providers.

The fifth value-related theme was accountability. Panellists believed that there should be a mechanism to support providers (and provider organizations) to better monitor the hospital-to-home transition process. As one panellist said: "There should be a way for professionals to follow up with you. Is everything going as planned? Do you need additional help?"

Key findings from the synthesized research evidence

We found several systematic reviews examining strategies designed to support providers to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions. Among those, we identified a report by Health Quality Ontario providing an overview of systematic reviews about strategies designed to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions. (99) The report identified a series of strategies that are supported by strong research evidence, and others that appear to be promising. These strategies can be used at different moments during the hospital-to-home transition, such as:

- early in the hospital admission;
- during the hospital stay and transition process;
- close to time of discharge; and
- after discharge.

We found no systematic reviews about strategies to help providers to proactively identify older adults with complex health and social needs.

We found one systematic review examining strategies to engage patients in patient advisory councils or committees to co-design programs and service. (100) The review found limited research evidence, but did find that some of these strategies could be promising. We also found a recent scoping review revealing that a growing number of organizations engage patients in developing best practice reports to improve hospital-to home transitions. (101)

A summary of the key findings from the synthesized research evidence is provided in Table 9. For those who want to know more about the systematic reviews contained in Table 9 (or obtain citations for the reviews), a fuller description of the systematic reviews is provided in Appendix 2.

Table 9: Summary of key findings from systematic reviews relevant to Element 2 – Enabling providers to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions

Category of finding	Summary of key findings
Benefits	Strategies to engage older adults and caregivers as advisors to healthcare
	organizations
	One systematic review examining strategies to engage patients in patient advisory councils or committees to co-design programs and services found a limited body of research evidence. However, some of these strategies appeared promising, such as: o engaging patients as advisors in the design of public-health interventions to improve clinical outcomes; and o engaging patients as advisors to help healthcare-planning efforts and identify priorities.(100)
	Strategies designed to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions
	Early in the hospital admission
	o Three strategies that are effective early in the hospital admission:
	 performing medication reconciliation on admission;
	 assessing patient risk of readmission; and
	assessing health literacy.(99)
	Two promising strategies:

	 notifying community providers of patient admission to hospital (and start coordinating the care plan); and using e-notifications.(99) During the hospital stay and transition process Two strategies that are effective during hospital stay and transition process: using 'teach back' to build patient and caregiver capacities; and using visual tools to help patients and caregivers to communicate.(99) Close to time of discharge Two strategies that are effective close to time of discharge: ensuring personal clinician-to-clinician information transfer; and performing medication reconciliation at discharge. (99) One promising strategy: scheduling primary-care visit before leaving hospital. (99) After discharge Four promising strategies after discharge: identifying one lead to perform medication reconciliation in the community; ensuring discharge summary available to primary-care providers within 48 hours; conducting follow-up within 48 hours of transition to home; and designating a person in the community to support non-clinical needs immediately after hospital discharge. (99)
Potential harms Costs and/or cost-	None identified None identified
effectiveness in relation to the status quo	
Uncertainty regarding benefits and potential harms (so monitoring and evaluation could be warranted if the option were pursued)	 Uncertainty because no systematic reviews were identified Strategies to help providers to proactively identify older adults with complex health and social needs Uncertainty because no studies were identified despite an exhaustive search as part of a systematic review Not applicable – no 'empty' reviews were identified No clear message from studies included in a systematic review Not applicable
Key elements of the policy option if it was tried elsewhere	None identified
Stakeholders' views and experience	None identified

Element 3 – Enabling decision-makers to make small yet rapid changes to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions

Most health systems have not been set up to learn and improve rapidly. Instead, they often go through large-scale reforms over an extended period. Since it is unlikely we will get all changes right from the beginning, such large-scale reforms are not optimal.

This element focuses on an approach called "rapid-learning systems". Decision-makers would be able to make small yet rapid changes to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. Decision-makers at all levels (from those working in local organizations delivering care to those working in the government) could try new approaches, rapidly evaluate them in 'real time,' and quickly adjust the approach when necessary.

Learning and improving rapidly appears particularly important in light of the COVID-19 pandemic, and the necessity for the health and social systems to respond to an exogenous shock, while maintaining optimal care for older adults with complex health and social needs.

Key findings from the citizen panel

While panellists grappled a bit more to define a role for themselves in a rapid-learning system, some panellists indicated that it was an approach that made "common sense." Four values-related themes emerged during the discussion about element 3 (Table 7).

The first value-related theme that emerged was person- and family-centred. A rapid-learning system should be guided by the needs and priorities of patients and caregivers, and actively engage them. As one panellist said: "Patients should point out what needs to be fixed. And then, [health-system leaders should] ask those most affected to see if it has been fixed."

The second value-related theme was innovation. Several panellists hoped that innovative models of hospital-to-home transitions could be adopted more rapidly across the province. They favored an incremental approach ("let's divide things up, roll things up sequentially, and learn along the way"). In order to address potential regional inequities in the adoption of innovative models, they suggested that a central provincial agency should develop a team of trainers who are not bound geographically and could support the adoption of the innovation across the province. And while they supported innovation, they were clear that it didn't mean a complete overhaul of the current system: "Don't re-invent the wheel. Don't fix what is not broken."

The third value-related theme was openness. To support a rapid-learning system, there was a need for greater openness in sharing successes and failures. They pointed out that the learning process is not strictly about sharing best practices, it is also about sharing failures and learning from those. However, some panellists indicated that there was a "fear of failure" among health-system leaders, which may be exacerbated by increased public and media scrutiny. This fear may nurture a lack of transparency and candor among health-system leaders when initiatives do not achieve their objectives (and thus not allowing us to collectively learn from failures).

The fourth value-related theme was accountability. Panellists discussed the importance of accountability in three ways: 1) those who are accountable/responsible to bring about change should have the necessary authority to make the change happen; 2) there needs to be clear communication mechanisms in place to inform the public (for example, public-reporting mechanisms) about the changes and to help them monitor progress ("The community should be considered as equal partners. Inform us of what's going on, how we can take part in this process, and how can I let you know if this isn't working."); and 3) you need a set of indicators to monitor progress (for example, hospital readmission rates, perception of seamless transition, perceived health status, patient/caregiver satisfaction and provider satisfaction).

Key findings from the synthesized research evidence

We identified two systematic reviews and one series of descriptive case studies that were deemed to be most relevant to adopting a rapid-learning and improvement approach. While they relate broadly to the characteristics of a rapid-learning health system, they do not address its development to support hospital-to-home transitions. In addition, the McMaster Health Forum also recently completed two rapid syntheses and a provincial stakeholder dialogue (including the development of an evidence brief), which we used to inform this element.(102-103) The first rapid synthesis and stakeholder dialogue focused on creating a rapid-learning health system in Ontario,(104) and the other rapid synthesis focused on creating rapid-learning health systems in Canada.(105)

The most recent rapid synthesis (from December 2018) was focused on creating rapid-learning health systems in Canada.(105) While the findings are too detailed to report in full here, three high-level points, directly from the report, are worth noting here:

- the list of assets is remarkably rich for the health system as a whole and for the primary-care sector and elderly population specifically, even in small jurisdictions, but there are a number of notable gaps across a number of jurisdictions, such as data about patient experiences often not being linked and shared in a timely way to inform rapid learning and improvement;
- some other sectors (e.g., home and community care) and populations (e.g., Indigenous peoples), many conditions (e.g., mental health and addictions) and some 'treatments' (e.g. surgery) have been or will be the focus of sustained efforts to create rapid-learning health systems in some jurisdictions; and
- some strong connections have been made among assets, although frequently the connections among sets
 linked to a single characteristic of rapid-learning health systems (not among assets linked to many different
 characteristics), and rarely were the connections made explicitly to support rapid learning and
 improvement.

We also identified two recent low-quality systematic reviews related to rapid learning. The first review examined attempts to adopt the rapid-learning health-system paradigm, with an emphasis on implementation and evaluating the impact on current medical practices. (106) The review identified three main themes to adopting a rapid-learning health system:

- clinical data reuse (i.e., building learning health-systems by extracting knowledge from geographically distributed data collected in daily clinical practice);
- patient-reported outcome measures (i.e. using patient-reporting mechanisms for collecting health-related quality indicators); and
- collaborative learning (i.e., using peer specialists for both capturing the indicators of healthcare delivery and encouraging changes through support and pressure).(106)

The second review focused on the ethical issues that can arise in a rapid-learning health system and grouped 67 ethical issues within four phases of rapid learning:

- designing activities: the risk of negative outcomes (e.g., reducing the quality and usability of results) from
 designing learning activities less rigorously so they are not classified as research, and the risk of inadequate
 engagement of stakeholders (which can affect the success of the learning activity due to a lack of
 established trust and support);
- ethical oversight of activities: the conflict between current oversight regulations and a learning health system, which can delay or even prevent learning activities from being conducted due to confusion regarding which learning activities require ethical oversight, and an inconsistent and burdensome oversight process;
- conducting activities: risks of misguided judgments regarding when and how participants should be notified and asked for consent, and the conflict between current data-management practices and regulations and the goals of a learning health system; and
- implementing learning: difficulties with changing practice in a timely manner (e.g., due to conflict with the current research infrastructure or current financial incentives), issue of transparency (e.g., due to

underperforming providers or commercial interests), and unintended negative consequences from implementation (e.g., widening health disparities or increasing the risk of liability).(107)

The same review identified the following strategies to address these issues:

- establishing clear and systematic policies and procedures to determine which learning health-system activities require ethical review, how data sharing and data protection should be handled, and how to inform patients in routine and systematic ways about the learning system;
- training and guidance for ethics committee members to learn how to apply ethical principles in the context of learning health-system activities and for researchers to learn about ethics guidelines; and
- simplified ethical review and consent process to make it easier for learning health-system activities to be conducted, including implementing a dedicated ethical-review process and streamlining the consent process.

The descriptive case studies showcased various rapid-learning health systems, including for a health system as a whole, as well as some implemented in specific organizations (e.g., academic health centres) and sectors (e.g., specialty care), and for specific categories of treatment (e.g., surgery and palliative care) and populations (e.g., children and youth). The case studies showed a number of key factors influencing successful implementation of rapid-learning health systems, including:

- meaningful stakeholder engagement, partnership and co-production being key pillars in the development and implementation of rapid-learning health systems;
- robust data infrastructure being a central component (e.g., data needs to be systematically and consistently captured, readily available, and shared);
- leadership-instilled culture of learning;
- strategic and operational assistance required to support the development of core competencies; and
- a clear set of performance and quality measures required to evaluate the development and implementation of rapid learning (including public reporting on performance and quality).(105)

A summary of the key findings from the synthesized research evidence is provided in Table 10. For those who want to know more about the systematic reviews contained in Table 10 (or obtain citations for the reviews), a fuller description of the systematic reviews is provided in Appendix 3.

Table 10: Summary of key findings from systematic reviews relevant to Element 3 – Enabling decision-makers to make small yet rapid changes to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions

Category of finding	Summary of key findings
Benefits	No evaluations of benefits to a rapid-learning approach were explicitly identified in included systematic reviews.
Potential harms	 One recent low-quality review identified 67 ethical issues that can arise in a rapid-learning health system within the following four phases: risk of negative outcomes as a result of designing activities; ethical oversight of activities can lead to a conflict between current oversight regulations and learning systems; in conducting activities there is the risk of misguided judgments regarding when and how participants should be notified and asked for consent; and implementing learning can create challenges in timeliness, transparency and unintended negative consequences from implementation. (106)
Costs and/or cost- effectiveness in relation to the status quo	None identified
Uncertainty regarding benefits and potential harms (so monitoring and evaluation could be	 Uncertainty because no systematic reviews were identified Not applicable Uncertainty because no studies were identified despite an exhaustive search as part of

warranted if the option were pursued)	a systematic review O Not applicable – no 'empty' reviews were identified No clear message from studies included in a systematic review Not applicable
Key elements of the policy option if it was tried elsewhere	 A series of case studies summarized in one of the rapid syntheses documenting the implementation of rapid-learning health systems showed a number of key factors influencing implementation, including: meaningful stakeholder engagement, partnership and co-production; robust data infrastructure; leadership-instilled culture of learning; strategic and operation assistance required to support the development of care competencies; and a clear set of performance and quality measures required to evaluate the development and implementation of rapid learning.(105)
Stakeholders' views and experience	• One low-quality systematic review examined attempts to adopt the learning health- system approach, with an emphasis on implementation and evaluating the impact on current medical practices, and found minimal focus on evaluating impacts on healthcare delivery.(107)

Additional equity-related observations about the three approach elements

No systematic reviews were found that related directly to either older adults with multiple chronic conditions and co-occurring mental health conditions or older adults living in rural, remote and northern areas. However, there are equity-related observations that should be applied to each of the three elements. In considering element 1, it will be critical to consider the ways in which co-existing mental health concerns may reduce the ability for older adults to participate in their own health and care during the transition, as well as being aware of the additional burden that may be placed on caregivers given the complex health and social needs of older adults, or their geographical location.

Related to element 2, recent shifts to virtual care in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic occurred, and may improve the connectedness of patients to their providers, particularly in rural, remote and northern areas.

Finally, with respect to element 3, no review examined strategies to engage those with co-existing chronic conditions and co-occurring mental health conditions (or their caregivers), as well as those living in rural, remote and norther areas, to help decision-makers make small yet rapid changes to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions. Nevertheless, those carrying the greatest burden of health inequities need to have a stronger voice in the planning and implementation of their care and the systems meant to support it. It will be essential to understand the influencing factors that both facilitate and act as a barrier to their engagement. Thus, strategies are needed to engage these vulnerable populations to ensure that changes are patient-centred and co-developed.

IMPLEMENTATION CONSIDERATIONS

A number of barriers might hinder implementation of the three elements of a potentially comprehensive approach to engaging older adults with complex health and social needs, and their caregivers, to improve hospital-to-home transitions in Ontario (Table 11). While potential barriers exist at the levels of providers, organizations and systems (if not patients/citizens, who are unlikely to be aware of or particularly interested in the specifics of these approach elements), perhaps the biggest barrier lies in providers' behaviours and attitudes not favourable to engaging older adults and caregivers, and the many silos in the system making it difficult to improve hospital-to-home transitions.

Table 11: Potential barriers to implementing the elements

Levels	Element 1 – Enabling older adults and their caregivers to play a role in their own care during hospital-to-home transitions	Element 2 – Enabling providers to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions	Element 3 – Enabling decision- makers to make small yet rapid changes to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions
Patient/Individual	 Some older adults and their caregivers may face significant barriers related to the social determinants of health that may affect their ability to play a role in their own care (e.g., limited access to culturally or linguistically adapted support, poverty, family dysfunction). Some older adults and their caregivers may not have the capacity to play an active role in their own care (for example, some caregivers are already overburdened, have limited resources, or are struggling with complex and conflicting advice and instructions). Some individuals may perceive that a focus on self-management means that their providers are abandoning them. 	 Older adults with complex health and social needs (and their caregivers) may be experiencing compassion fatigue and additional health concerns, and thus are unable to engage in designing programs and services. Some older adults and their caregivers may not want to be engaged advisors, or may not have the capacity to be engaged as advisors (particularly those with complex health and social needs). 	Older adults with complex health and social needs (and their caregivers) may be experiencing compassion fatigue and additional health concerns, and thus are unable to engage in designing programs, services and policies.
Care provider	Some providers may be reluctant (or lack the skills) to empower older adults and caregivers.	Many providers and care teams may not have the same capacity (e.g., time, resources, organizational support) to deploy all the strategies designed to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions.	There may be resistance from providers to changing how things are being done (behavioural, attitudinal and cultural barriers to change).

		T
	 Some providers seem unable to work to their full scope of practice due to work overload (and some may not have the authority required to make the change happen). Current processes and procedures may not allow providers to engage older adults and caregivers in designing programs and services. 	
Organization	 Some organizational leaders may be reluctant to adopt (or be part of) hospital-to-home transition models (and tools) if they are perceived as hospital-centric. A cultural change may be required to ensure that hospitals become 'age-friendly'. 	Making small and rapid changes may be perceived as challenging without larger investments in some areas (e.g., home- and community-care organizations being underfunded).(15)
System	A cultural change may be required to ensure that the health and social systems become 'age-friendly'.	 Making changes in the system (even small and rapid changes) may be perceived as challenging, especially if no large investments are made in some areas (e.g., home- and community-care organizations being underfunded).(15) Some policymakers may be reluctant (or lack the skills) to meaningfully engage older adults and caregivers in designing programs, services and policies. The many silos in the system could make it difficult to improve the quality of hospitalto-home transitions (e.g., silos across sectors, financial payment silos, information silos with electronic medical records that are interoperable, all of which contribute to the lack of continuity of care and poor coordination of care). There are many silos in the health system that are hard to break down (which is illustrated by the lack of interprofessional collaboration), but also across the relevant sectors (silos that

	may be reinforced by competing priorities that may be hard to reconcile).
	reconcie).

On the other hand, a number of potential windows of opportunity could be capitalized upon (Table 12), which also need to be factored into any decision about how to improve hospital-to-home transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs (and their caregivers).

Table 12: Potential windows of opportunity for implementing the elements

Туре	Element 1 – Enabling older adults and their caregivers to play a role in their own care during hospital-to-home transitions	Element 2 – Enabling providers to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions	Element 3 – Enabling decision-makers to make small yet rapid changes to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions
General	caregivers, providers, researche quality of hospital-to-home trancaregivers): o recent health reforms (include of development of quality stance of growing body of research even home transitions, about prior promising hospital-to-home	tive created a burning platform from which its, health- and social-system leaders and consitions for older adults with complex health its dards and indicators for hospital-to-home ridence about the experiences of patients a prities for policy changes in line with patie transition models; (15; 19; 47; 49) and the acute care sector to respond to the onge	other stakeholders can improve the lth and social needs (and their eams); transitions;(25) and caregivers during hospital-tont and caregiver priorities, and
Element-specific	Several organizations are trying to empower patients and caregivers. For example: the conversation guide about hospital-to-home transitions by Ontario Health, Quality Business Unit;(1) and the McMaster Optimal Aging Portal is a website offering direct and easy access to evidence-based information about how to stay healthy, active and engaged, and how to manage our health conditions, as we grow older.	 Several non-governmental organizations have been leading initiatives to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions. Such initiatives (along with their expertise) could be leveraged: The Aging, Community and Health Research Unit is a collaborative research group working together with older adults with multiple chronic conditions and their family caregivers to co-design, evaluate and scale-up health interventions to promote optimal aging at home. (48-49) Their study (Community Assets Supporting Transitions) is an example of one study that actively engaged patients as partners in the research. (6; 20; 47) The Geriatric Health System Research Group led large mixed-methods studies to examine hip-fracture transitions across the system in Ontario, along with using and sharing of 	 The health system in Ontario is increasingly putting patients and rapid learning and improvement at its centre. Rapid-Improvement Support and Exchange (RISE) was launched to contribute to the ministry's OHT Central Program of Supports by providing timely and responsive access to Ontariobased 'rapid-learning and improvement' assets. There are many mechanisms to support patient and family engagement in the province: Patient and Family Advisory Councils (PFACs) or their equivalent (for example, Ontario Citizens' Council; Patient and Caregiver Advisory Table for Home and Community Care) help to set direction for

- health information during transitions across sectors.(50-59)
- The UHN Open Lab is supporting the implementation of Patient Oriented Discharge Summary (PODS) across the province.(82-83; 108)
- o The Canadian Foundation for Healthcare Improvement is leading a project (Bridge-to-Home) with 16 organizations across seven provinces to improve the quality of care, as well as patient and caregiver experiences of care, during hospital-to-home transitions. (109)
- O The Canadian Foundation for Healthcare Improvement and the Canadian Frailty Network launched the Advancing Frailty Care in the Community Collaborative, which is supporting healthcare teams from across Canada to adapt and implement evidence-informed innovations to improve the proactive identification, assessment and management of frailty in primary care
- o The Registered Nurses'
 Association of Ontario will
 update its practice guideline on
 transitions in care in the coming
 year.(14) The guideline will assist
 nurses to become more
 comfortable, confident and
 competent when caring for
 clients undergoing care
 transitions.
- o Other initiatives could also inspire ways to improve the quality of care transitions for older adults with complex health and social needs. For example, Behavioural Supports Ontario recently published a checklist that can be used by care teams to support complex transitions from hospital and community into long-term care.(110)

- the system (or for organizations).
- Ontario Health, Quality
 Business Unit is leading
 several initiatives on
 patient engagement in
 quality improvement (for
 example, patient engagement tools and
 resources, and patient
 advisors program).

REFERENCES

- 1. Health Quality Ontario. Going home from the hospital: Questions to ask your care team as you get ready to leave the hospital. Toronto, Canada: Health Quality Ontario, 2019.
- 2. Heckman GA, Hirdes JP, Hébert PC, et al. Predicting future health transitions among newly admitted nursing home residents with heart failure. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 2019; 20(4): 438-43.
- 3. Hébert PC, Morinville A, Costa A, Heckman G, Hirdes J. Regional variations of care in home care and long-term care: A retrospective cohort study. *CMAJ Open* 2019; 7(2): E341-E50.
- 4. Health Quality Ontario. The reality of caring: Distress among the caregivers of home care patients. Toronto: Canada: Health Quality Ontario, 2016.
- 5. Marengoni A, Angleman S, Melis R, et al. Aging with multimorbidity: A systematic review of the literature. *Ageing Research Reviews* 2011; 10(4): 430-9.
- 6. Ganann R, McAiney C, Johnson W. Engaging older adults as partners in transitional care research. *Canadian Medical Association Journal* 2018; 190(Suppl): S40-S1.
- 7. Fortin M, Lapointe L, Hudon C, Vanasse A. Multimorbidity is common to family practice: is it commonly researched? *Canadian Family Physician* 2005; 51: 244-5.
- 8. Barnett K, Mercer SW, Norbury M, Watt G, Wyke S, Guthrie B. Epidemiology of multimorbidity and implications for health care, research, and medical education: A cross-sectional study. *Lancet* 2012; 380(9836): 37-43.
- 9. Health Quality Ontario. Transitions between hospital and home. 2019. https://www.hqontario.ca/Quality-Improvement/Quality-Improvement-in-Action/Health-Links/Health-Links-Resources/Transitions-between-Hospital-and-Home (accessed 8 October 2019).
- 10. Shepperd S, Lannin N, Clemson L, McCluskey A, Cameron I, Barras S. Discharge planning from hospital to home. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2013; (1469-493X (Electronic)).
- 11. Weeks LE, Macdonald M, Martin-Misener R, et al. The impact of transitional care programs on health services utilization in community-dwelling older adults: A systematic review. *JBI Database of Systematic Reviews and Implementation Reports* 2018; 16(2): 345-84.
- 12. Allen J, Hutchinson AM, Brown R, Livingston PM. Quality care outcomes following transitional care interventions for older people from hospital to home: A systematic review. *BMC Health Services* Research 2014; 14: 346.
- 13. Hyde CJ, Robert IE, Sinclair AJ. The effects of supporting discharge from hospital to home in older people. *Age and Ageing* 2000; 29(3): 271-9.
- 14. Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario. Care transitions. Toronto, Canada: Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario, 2014.
- 15. Kiran T, Wells D, Okrainec K, et al. Patient and caregiver experience in the transition from hospital to home brainstorming results from group concept mapping: A patient-oriented study. *CMAJ Open* 2020; 8(1): E121-E33.
- 16. Tepper J, Kiran T. Transitions in care: Telling the patient story. 2018. https://www.hqontario.ca/Blog/patient-engagement/transitions-in-care-telling-the-patient-story (accessed 20 June 2019).
- 17. Health Quality Ontario. Transitions from hospital to home: Concept mapping training. 2018. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=OFSIfRFafm4&feature=youtu.be (accessed 20 June 2019).

- 18. Alqenae FA, Steinke D, Keers RN. Prevalence and nature of medication errors and medication-related harm following discharge from hospital to community settings: A systematic review. *Drug Safety* 2020; 43(6): 517-37.
- 19. Kiran T, Wells D, Okrainec K, et al. Patient and caregiver priorities in the transition from hospital to home: results from province-wide group concept mapping. *BMJ Quality & Safety* 2020; 29(5): 390-400.
- 20. ACHRU. Study 9: Community Assets Supporting Transitions (CAST) A pragmatic effectiveness-implementation trial to evaluate a hospital-to-home transitional care intervention compared to usual care for older adults with multiple chronic conditions and depressive symptoms. 2019. https://achru.mcmaster.ca/research-studies/community-assets-supporting-transitions-cast-pragmatic-effectiveness-implementation (accessed 8 October 2019).
- 21. ACHRU. CAST Community Assets Supporting Transitions. 2019. https://achru.mcmaster.ca/sites/achru.mcmaster.ca/files/documents/CAST%20Hamilton%20Community%20Forum%20Infographic%20%2528FINAL%2529%20%281%29.pdf (accessed 8 October 2019).
- 22. Gauvin F-P, McKinlay J, Markle-Reid M, et al. Panel summary: Engaging older adults with complex health and social needs, and their caregivers, to improve hospital-to-home transitions in Ontario. Hamilton, Canada: McMaster Health Forum, 2019.
- 23. Premiers' Council on Improving Healthcare and Ending Hallway Medicine. Hallway health care: A system under strain. Toronto, Canada: Premiers' Council on Improving Healthcare and Ending Hallway Medicine, Government of Ontario, 2019.
- 24. Ombudsman P. Fearless: Listening, learning, leading Annual report 2016/17. Toronto: Canada: Patient Ombudsman, 2017.
- 25. Health Quality Ontario. Quality Standards Transitions from hospital to home: Care for people of all ages. Toronto, Canada: Health Quality Ontario, 2019.
- 26. Legislative Assembly of Ontario. The People's Health Care Act. 1st session, 42nd legislature ed; 2019.
- 27. Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Improving health care in Ontario. 2019. https://www.ontario.ca/page/improving-health-care-ontario (accessed 20 June 2019).
- 28. McAiney CA, Hillier LM, Paul J, et al. Improving the seniors' transition from hospital to the community: A case for intensive geriatric service workers. *International Psychogeriatrics* 2017; 29(1): 149-63.
- 29. Gauvin F, Wilson M, Lavis J, Abelson J. Citizen brief: Improving care and support for people with multiple chronic health conditions in Ontario. Hamilton, Canada: McMaster Health Forum, 2014.
- 30. Carman KL, Dardess P, Maurer M, et al. Patient and family engagement: A framework for understanding the elements and developing interventions and policies. *Health Affairs* 2013; 32(2): 223-31.
- 31. Wilson M, Waddell K. Evidence Brief: Strengthening care for frail older adults in Canada. Hamilton: Canada: McMaster Health Forum, 2016.
- 32. Wilson M, Waddell K, Guta A. Citizen brief: Strengthening care for frail older adults in Canada. Hamilton, Canada: McMaster Health Forum, 2016.
- 33. World Health Organization. What is the WHO definition of health? 2019. https://www.who.int/about/who-we-are/frequently-asked-questions (accessed 1 November 2019).

- 34. Government of Canada. Home and community health care. 2016. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/home-continuing-care/home-community-care.html (accessed 21 October 2019).
- 35. Lavis J, Hammill A. Care by sector. In: Lavis J, ed. Ontario's health system: Key insights for engaged citizens, professionals and policymakers. Hamilton, Canada: McMaster Health Forum; 2016: 209-69.
- 36. Government of Canada. Social determinants of health and health inequalities. 2019. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/health-promotion/population-health/what-determines-health.html (accessed 7 October 2019).
- 37. Canadian Public Health Association. What are the social determinants of health? 2019. https://www.cpha.ca/what-are-social-determinants-health (accessed 7 October 2019).
- 38. Ploeg J, Matthew-Maich N, Fraser K, et al. Working together to manage multiple chronic conditions. Hamilton, Canada: Aging, Community and Health Research Unit, McMaster University, 2014.
- 39. Griffith LE, Gruneir A, Fisher K, et al. Patterns of health service use in community living older adults with dementia and comorbid conditions: A population-based retrospective cohort study in Ontario, Canada. *BMC Geriatrics* 2016; 16(1): 177.
- 40. Muratov S, Lee J, Holbrook A, et al. Unplanned index hospital admissions among new older high-cost health care users in Ontario: A population-based matched cohort study. *CMAJ Open* 2019; 7(3): E537-E45.
- 41. Fitzpatrick T, Rosella LC, Calzavara A, et al. Looking beyond income and education: Socioeconomic status gradients among future high-cost users of health care. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 2015; 49(2): 161-71.
- 42. Northwood M, Ploeg J, Markle-Reid M, Sherifali D. Integrative review of the social determinants of health in older adults with multimorbidity. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 2018; 74(1): 45-60.
- 43. Daniel H, Bornstein SS, Kane GC. Addressing social determinants to improve patient care and promote health equity: An American College of Physicians position paper. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2018; 168(8): 577-8.
- 44. United Way. Seniors vulnerability report: Aging with dignity making it happen for everyone. Burnaby, Canada: United Way, 2011.
- 45. Ploeg J, Matthew-Maich N, Fraser K, et al. Managing multiple chronic conditions in the community: A Canadian qualitative study of the experiences of older adults, family caregivers and healthcare providers. *BMC Geriatrics* 2017; 17(1): 40.
- 46. Heckman GA, Hillier L, Manderson B, McKinnon-Wilson J, Santi SM, Stolee P. Developing an integrated system of care for frail seniors. *Healthcare Management Forum* 2013; 26(4): 200-8.
- 47. Markle-Reid M, McAiney C, Ganann R, et al. Study protocol for a hospital-to-home transitional care intervention for older adults with multiple chronic conditions and depressive symptoms: A pragmatic effectiveness-implementation trial. *BMC Geriatrics* 2020; 20(1): 240.
- 48. Markle-Reid M, Ploeg J, Valaitis R, et al. Protocol for a program of research from the Aging, Community and Health Research Unit: Promoting optimal aging at home for older adults with multimorbidity. *Journal of Comorbidity* 2018; 8(1): 2235042x18789508.
- 49. Markle-Reid M, Valaitis R, Bartholomew A, et al. An integrated hospital-to-home transitional care intervention for older adults with stroke and multimorbidity: A feasibility study. *Journal of Comorbidity* 2020; 10: 2235042X19900451.
- 50. Elliott J, Forbes D, Chesworth BM, Ceci C, Stolee P. Information sharing with rural family caregivers during care transitions of hip fracture patients. *International Journal of Integrate Care* 2014; 14: e018.

- 51. Giosa JL, Stolee P, Dupuis SL, Mock SE, Santi SM. An examination of family caregiver experiences during care transitions of older adults. *Canadian Journal of Aging* 2014; 33(2): 137-53.
- 52. Glenny C, Stolee P, Sheiban L, Jaglal S. Communicating during care transitions for older hip fracture patients: Family caregiver and health care provider's perspectives. *International Journal of Integrate Care* 2013; 13: e044.
- 53. Johnson H, Forbes D, Egan MY, Elliott J, Stolee P, Chesworth BM. Hip-fracture care in rural southwestern ontario: an ethnographic study of patient transitions and physiotherapy handoffs. *Physiotherapy Canada* 2013; 65(3): 266-75.
- 54. Lafortune C, Elliott J, Egan MY, Stolee P. The rest of the story: A qualitative study of complementing standardized assessment data with informal interviews with older patients and families. *The Patient Patient-Centered Outcomes Research* 2017; 10(2): 215-24.
- 55. McMurray J, Hicks E, Johnson H, Elliott J, Byrne K, Stolee P. 'Trying to find information is like hating yourself every day': The collision of electronic information systems in transition with patients in transition. *Health Informatics Journal* 2013; 19(3): 218-32.
- 56. Sims-Gould J, Byrne K, Hicks E, Franke T, Stolee P. "When things are really complicated, we call the social worker": Post-hip-fracture care transitions for older people. *Health and Social Work* 2015; 40(4): 257-65.
- 57. Stolee P, Elliott J, Byrne K, et al. A framework for supporting post-acute care transitions of older patients with hip fracture. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 2019; 20(4): 414-9 e1.
- 58. Toscan J, Mairs K, Hinton S, Stolee P. Integrated transitional care: Patient, informal caregiver and health care provider perspectives on care transitions for older persons with hip fracture. *International Journal of Integrated Care* 2012; 12: e13.
- 59. Toscan J, Manderson B, Santi SM, Stolee P. "Just another fish in the pond": The transitional care experience of a hip fracture patient. *International Journal of Integrated Care* 2013; 13: e023.
- 60. Hestevik CH, Molin M, Debesay J, Bergland A, Bye A. Older persons' experiences of adapting to daily life at home after hospital discharge: A qualitative metasummary. *BMC Health Services Research* 2019; 19(1): 224.
- 61. The Change Foundation. A profile of family caregivers in Ontario. Toronto, Canada: The Change Foundation, 2016.
- 62. Wilson M, Gauvin F, Ploeg J. Citizen brief: Improving care and support for unpaid caregivers in Ontario. Hamilton, Canada: McMaster Health Forum, 2014.
- 63. Canadian Medical Association. Healthcare transformation in Canada: Change that works, care that last. Toronto, Canada: Canadian Medical Association, 2010.
- 64. Wilson M, Waddell K. Rapid synthesis: Empowering caregivers to deliver home-based restorative care. Hamilton, Canada: McMaster Health Forum, 2019.
- 65. Health Quality Ontario. Measuring up 2018: A yearly report on how Ontario's health system is performing. Toronto: Canada: Health Quality Ontario, 2018.
- 66. Duggleby W, Ploeg J, McAiney C, et al. Study protocol: Pragmatic randomized control trial of an internet-based intervention (My tools 4 care) for family carers. *BMC Geriatrics* 2017; 17(1): 181.
- 67. Duggleby W, Ploeg J, McAiney C, et al. Web-based intervention for family carers of persons with dementia and multiple chronic conditions (My Tools 4 Care): Pragmatic randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research* 2018; 20(6): e10484.
- 68. Ploeg J, Northwood M, Duggleby W, et al. Caregivers of older adults with dementia and multiple chronic conditions: Exploring their experiences with significant changes. *Dementia (London)* 2019: 1471301219834423.

- 69. Canadian Cancer Action Network. Canada, a caring society: Action Table on Family Caregivers Informed dialogue leading to concrete actions for all Canadians. Toronto, Canad: Canadian Cancer Action Network, 2013.
- 70. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Supporting informal caregivers: The heart of home care. Ottawa, Canada: Canadian Institute for Health Information, 2010.
- 71. Statistics Canada. General Social Survey Cycle 16: Aging and social support. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada, 2002.
- 72. Hollander MJ, Liu G, Chappell NL. Who cares and how much? The imputed economic contribution to the Canadian healthcare system of middle-aged and older unpaid caregivers providing care to the elderly. *Healthcare Quarterly* 2009; 12(2): 42-9.
- 73. Tinetti ME, Fried TR, Boyd CM. Designing health care for the most common chronic condition: Multimorbidity. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2012; 307(23): 2493-4.
- 74. Home Care Ontario. More home care for me and you: Preparing Ontario's Home Care System for the Challenges of Tomorrow. Hamilton, Canada: Home Care Ontario, 2018.
- 75. Wodchis W, Austin P, Newman A, Corallo A, Henry D. The concentration of healthcare spending: Little ado (yet) about much (money). Montreal, Canada: Annual Conference of the Canadian Association for Health Services and Policy Research, 2012.
- 76. Shastri A, Aimola L, Tooke B, et al. Recognition and treatment of depression in older adults admitted to acute hospitals in England. *Clinical Medicine (London, England)* 2019; 19(2): 114-8.
- 77. Légaré F, Ratté S, Gravel K, ID. G. Barriers and facilitators to implementing shared decision-making in clinical practice: Update of a systematic review of health professionals' perceptions. *Patient Education and Counselling* 2008; 73(3): 526-35.
- 78. Wagner EH, Austin BT, Von Korff M. Organizing care for patients with chronic illness. *Milbank Quarterly* 1996; 74(4): 511-44.
- 79. Heckman G, McKinnon-Wilson J, Hillier L, Manderson B. Developing an integrated system of care for frail seniors in Waterloo-Wellington Results of a consultation process to identify system strengths and gaps. Waterloo-Wellington: Canada, 2011.
- 80. Schoen C, Osborn R, How SK, Doty MM, Peugh J. In chronic condition: Experiences of patients with complex health care needs, in eight countries, 2008. *Health Affairs* 2009; 28(1): w1-16.
- 81. Haggerty JL. Ordering the chaos for patients with multimorbidity. *British Medical Journal* 2012; 345: e5915.
- 82. Hahn-Goldberg S, Okrainec K, Damba C, et al. Implementing Patient-Oriented Discharge Summaries (PODS): A multisite pilot across early adopter hospitals. *Healthcare Quarterly* 2016; 19(1): 42-8.
- 83. OpenLab. PODS Patient-Oriented Discharge Summary. 2019. http://pods-toolkit.uhnopenlab.ca/ (accessed 8 October 2019).
- 84. COVID-END. A taxonomy of decisions related to COVID-19. 2020. https://www.mcmasterforum.org/networks/covid-end/resources-to-support-decision-makers/taxonomy-of-decisions/context (accessed 21 July 2020).
- 85. Daiken S, Daiken G, Ganann R, et al. Top ten insights into improving hospital-to-home transitions: Part 2 Insights from the COVID-19 response. 2020. https://www.mcmasterforum.org/learn-how/public-events/event-item/top-ten-insights-into-improving-hospital-to-home-transitions-part-2-insights-from-the-covid-19-response (accessed 27 July 2020).

- 86. Velasquez D, Mehrotra A. Ensuring the growth of telehealth during COVID-19 does not exacerbate disparities In care. 2020. https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hblog20200505.591306/full/ (accessed 25 October 2020).
- 87. Chau V, Loh V. Stigma, discrimination, health impacts and COVID-19. Antigonish, Canada: National Collaborating Centre for Determinants of Health, 2020.
- 88. United Nations. Policy brief: The impact of COVID-19 on older persons. New York City, United States: United Nations, 2020.
- 89. Ayalon L, Chasteen A, Diehl M, et al. Aging in times of the COVID-19 pandemic: Avoiding ageism and fostering intergenerational solidatiry. *The Journals of Gerontology* 2020: gbaa051.
- 90. Ontario Health (Quality). Transitions between hospital and home- Care for people of all ages measurement guide. Toronto: Canada: Ontario Health (Quality), 2020.
- 91. Gauvin FP, Waddell K, Dion A, Lavis JN, Abelson J, H B. Citizen brief: Engaging patients, families and caregivers to support Ontario Health Teams. Hamilton: Canada: McMaster Health Forum, 2020.
- 92. Subedi R, Greenberg TL, Roshanafshar S. Does geography matter in mortality? An analysis of potentially avoidable mortality by remoteness index in Canada. *Health Reports (Statistics Canada)* 2019; 30(5): 3-15.
- 93. Gauvin F-P, Ganann R, Heald-Taylor G, et al. Citizen brief: Engaging older adults with complex health and social needs, and their caregivers, to improve hospital-to-home transitions in Ontario. Hamilton, Canada: McMaster Health Forum, 2019.
- 94. Rodakowski J, Rocco PB, Ortiz M, et al. Caregiver integration during discharge planning for older adults to reduce resource use: A meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2017; 65(8): 1748-55.
- 95. Okrainec K, Lau D, Abrams HB, et al. Impact of patient-centered discharge tools: A systematic review. *Journal of Hospital Medicine* 2017; 12(2): 110-7.
- 96. Smith SM, Wallace E, O'Dowd T, Fortin M. Interventions for improving outcomes in patients with multimorbidity in primary care and community settings. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2016; 3: Cd006560.
- 97. Wilberforce M, Challis D, Davies L, Kelly MP, Roberts C, Clarkson P. Person-centredness in the community care of older people: A literature-based concept synthesis. *International Journal of Social Welfare* 2017; 26(1): 86-98.
- 98. Høy B, Ludvigsen MS. Older adults' experiences of patient involvement in transitional care: A qualitative systematic review protocol. *JBI Database of Systemic Reviews and Implement Reports* 2018; 16(4): 860-6.
- 99. Health Quality Ontario. Transitions between hospital and home. 2016. https://www.hqontario.ca/Quality-Improvement/Quality-Improvement-in-Action/Health-Links-Resources/Transitions-between-Hospital-and-Home (accessed 11 October 2019).
- 100. Sharma AE, Knox M, Mleczko VL, Olayiwola JN. The impact of patient advisors on healthcare outcomes: A systematic review. *BMC Health Services Research* 2017; 17(1): 693.
- 101. Zhao G, Kennedy C, Mabaya G, Okrainec K, Kiran T. Patient engagement in the development of best practices for transitions from hospital to home: A scoping review. *BMJ Open* 2019; 9(8): e029693.
- 102. Waddell K, Gauvin F-P, Lavis J. Evidence brief: Supporting rapid learning and improvement across Ontario's health system. Hamilton, Ontario: McMaster Health Forum, 2019.

- 103. Gauvin F-P, Waddell K, Lavis J. Dialogue summary: Supporting rapid learning and improvement across Ontario's health system. Hamilton, Canada: McMaster Health Forum, 2019.
- 104. Lavis J, Gauvin F, Reid R, Bullock H, Wodchis W, Hayes A. Rapid synthesis: Creating a rapid-learning health system in Ontario. Hamilton, Canada: McMaster Health Forum, 2018.
- 105. Lavis J, Gauvin F, Mattison C, Moat K, Waddell K, Wilson M. Rapid synthesis: Creating rapid-learning heath systems in Canada. Hamilton, 2018.
- 106. Budrionis A, Bellika JG. The Learning Healthcare System: Where are we now? A systematic review. *J Biomed Inform* 2016; 64: 87-92.
- 107. McLennan S, Kahrass H, Wieschowski S, Strech D, Langhof H. The spectrum of ethical issues in a Learning Health Care System: a systematic qualitative review. *Int J Qual Health Care* 2018; 30(3): 161-8.
- 108. OpenLab. Patient Oriented Discharge Summary (PODS). 2019. https://pods-toolkit.uhnopenlab.ca (accessed 1 November 2019).
- 109. Canadian Foundation for Healthcare Improvement. Bridge-to-Home Spread Collaborative. 2019 (accessed 8 October 2019).
- 110. Behavioural Supports Ontario. Guiding checklist: Supporting transitions from acute/community into long-term care (LTC). Toronto, Canada: Behavioural Supports Ontario and brainXchange, 2019.
- 111. Backman C, Chartrand J, Dingwall O, Shea B. Effectiveness of person- and family-centered care transition interventions: A systematic review protocol. *Systematic Reviews* 2017; 6(1): 158.
- 112. Braet A, Weltens C, Sermeus W. Effectiveness of discharge interventions from hospital to home on hospital readmissions: A systematic review. *JBI Database of Systematic Reviews and Implement Reports* 2016; 14(2): 106-73.
- 113. Le Berre M, Maimon G, Sourial N, Guériton M, Vedel I. Impact of transitional care services for chronically ill older patients: A systematic evidence review. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2017; 65(7): 1597-608.
- 114. Chen HM, Tu YH, Chen CM. Effect of continuity of care on quality of life in older adults with chronic diseases: A meta-analysis. *Clinical Nursing Research* 2017; 26(3): 266-84.
- 115. Manderson B, McMurray J, Piraino E, Stolee P. Navigation roles support chronically ill older adults through healthcare transitions: A systematic review of the literature. *Health and Social Care in the Community* 2012; 20(2): 113-27.
- 116. Kim H, Thyer BA. Does transitional care prevent older adults from rehospitalization? A review. *Journal of Evidence-Informed Social Work* 2015; 12(3): 261-71.
- 117. Toles M, Colón-Emeric C, Asafu-Adjei J, Moreton E, Hanson LC. Transitional care of older adults in skilled nursing facilities: A systematic review. *Geriatric Nursing* 2016; 37(4): 296-301.
- 118. Mabire C, Dwyer A, Garnier A, Pellet J. Effectiveness of nursing discharge planning interventions on health-related outcomes in discharged elderly inpatients: A systematic review. *JBI Database of Systematic Reviews and Implement Reports* 2016; 14(9): 217-60.
- 119. Piraino E, Heckman G, Glenny C, Stolee P. Transitional care programs: Who is left behind? A systematic review. *International Journal of Integrated Care* 2012; 12: e132.
- 120. Moe J, Kirkland SW, Rawe E, et al. Effectiveness of interventions to decrease emergency department visits by adult frequent users: A systematic review. *Academic Emergency Medicine* 2017; 24(1): 40-52.
- 121. Laugaland K, Aase K, Barach P. Interventions to improve patient safety in transitional care: A review of the evidence. *Work* 2012; 41 Suppl 1: 2915-24.

- 122. Straßner C, Hoffmann M, Forstner J, Roth C, Szecsenyi J, Wensing M. Interventions to improve hospital admission and discharge management: An umbrella review of systematic reviews. *Quality Management in Health Care* 2020; 29(2): 67-75.
- 123. Donald F, Kilpatrick K, Reid K, et al. Hospital to community transitional care by nurse practitioners: A systematic review of cost-effectiveness. *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 2015; 52(1): 436-51.
- 124. Bryant-Lukosius D, Carter N, Reid K, et al. The clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of clinical nurse specialist-led hospital to home transitional care: A systematic review. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice* 2015; 21(5): 763-81.
- 125. Albert NM. A systematic review of transitional-care strategies to reduce rehospitalization in patients with heart failure. *Heart & Lung: The Journal of Critical Care* 2016; 45(2): 100-13.
- 126. Puhr MI, Thompson HJ. The use of transitional care models in patients with stroke. *Journal of Neuroscience Nursing* 2015; 47(4): 223-34.
- 127. Feltner C, Jones CD, Cené CW, et al. Transitional care interventions to prevent readmissions for persons with heart failure: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2014; 160(11): 774-84.
- 128. Sendall M, McCosker L, Crossley K, Bonner A. A structured review of chronic care model components supporting transition between healthcare service delivery types for older people with multiple chronic diseases. *Health Information Management* 2017; 46(2): 58-68.
- 129. Prvu Bettger J, Alexander KP, Dolor RJ, et al. Transitional care after hospitalization for acute stroke or myocardial infarction: A systematic review. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2012; 157(6): 407-16.
- 130. Olson DM, Bettger JP, Alexander KP, et al. Transition of care for acute stroke and myocardial infarction patients: from hospitalization to rehabilitation, recovery, and secondary prevention. *Evidence Report/Technology Assessment* 2011; (202): 1-197.
- 131. Chiu WK, Newcomer R. A systematic review of nurse-assisted case management to improve hospital discharge transition outcomes for the elderly. *Professional Case Management* 2007; 12(6): 330-6.
- 132. Nazar H, Nazar Z, Portlock J, Todd A, Slight SP. A systematic review of the role of community pharmacies in improving the transition from secondary to primary care. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 2015; 80(5): 936-48.

APPENDICES

The following tables provide detailed information about the systematic reviews identified for each option. Each row in a table corresponds to a particular systematic review and the reviews are organized by element (first column). The focus of the review is described in the second column. Key findings from the review that relate to the option are listed in the third column, while the fourth column records the last year the literature was searched as part of the review.

The fifth column presents a rating of the overall quality of the review. The quality of each review has been assessed using AMSTAR (A MeaSurement Tool to Assess Reviews), which rates overall quality on a scale of 0 to 11, where 11/11 represents a review of the highest quality. It is important to note that the AMSTAR tool was developed to assess reviews focused on clinical interventions, so not all criteria apply to systematic reviews pertaining to delivery, financial, or governance arrangements within health systems. Where the denominator is not 11, an aspect of the tool was considered not relevant by the raters. In comparing ratings, it is therefore important to keep both parts of the score (i.e., the numerator and denominator) in mind. For example, a review that scores 8/8 is generally of comparable quality to a review scoring 11/11; both ratings are considered "high scores." A high score signals that readers of the review can have a high level of confidence in its findings. A low score, on the other hand, does not mean that the review should be discarded, merely that less confidence can be placed in its findings and that the review needs to be examined closely to identify its limitations. (Lewin S, Oxman AD, Lavis JN, Fretheim A. SUPPORT Tools for evidence-informed health Policymaking (STP): 8. Deciding how much confidence to place in a systematic review. *Health Research Policy and Systems* 2009; 7 (Suppl1):S8.

The last three columns convey information about the utility of the review in terms of local applicability, applicability concerning prioritized groups, and issue applicability. The third-from-last column notes the proportion of studies that were conducted in Canada, while the second-from-last column shows the proportion of studies included in the review that deal explicitly with one of the prioritized groups. The last column indicates the review's issue applicability in terms of the proportion of studies focused on hospital-to-home transitions.

All of the information provided in the appendix tables was taken into account by the evidence brief's authors in compiling Tables 8-10 in the main text of the brief.

Appendix 1: Systematic reviews relevant to Element 1 - Enabling older adults and their caregivers to play a role in their own care during hospital-to-home transitions

Sub-element	Focus of systematic review	Key findings	Year of last search	AMSTAR (quality) rating	Proportion of studies that were conducted in Canada	Proportion of studies that deal explicitly with one of the prioritized groups	Proportion of studies that focused on hospital-to- home transitions
Strategies to empower caregivers	Examining the knowledge, attitudes and behaviours that caregivers need in order to build their confidence and engage them in restorative-care processes (64)	This rapid synthesis revealed that caregivers emphasized the need for validation of their role, information about the condition and how to provide care, information about the roles of different health professionals and the health system, and informal information from friends and family who have also been caregivers.	2019	4/9 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	22/49	49/49	49/49
	Examining caregiver integration during discharge planning for older adults to reduce resource use (94)	This systematic review included 15 studies that examined caregiver integration during discharge planning for older adults as a way to reduce resource use. The meta-analysis evaluated readmission rates, length of and time to post-discharge rehospitalizations and costs of post-discharge care. Out of the 15 studies included, 11 provided information on readmission rates. The review found that the majority of studies found statistically significant shorter time to readmission, shorter re-hospitalization, and lower costs of post-discharge care with discharge-planning interventions. Nine studies reported statistically significant reductions in readmissions. Specifically, discharge-planning interventions with caregiver integration were associated with a 25% decrease in readmissions at 90 days, and a 24% decrease in readmissions at 180 days. Five of six studies reported significant shorter time to readmission, five of seven studies reported statistically significant shorter stays, and four of seven studies reported significantly lower costs of post-discharge care. Studies found that nurses were the most frequently involved caregiver. Geriatricians, a discharge coordinator, and multidisciplinary teams made up of specialists followed, being involved in two studies each. Interventions used ranged from follow-up telephone calls to home visits. Overall, the review found that the integration of caregivers into the discharge-planning process for older adults was able to reduce the risk of hospital readmission.	2016	9/11 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	0/15	15/15	11/15

Examining person-centredness in the community care of older people (97) Examining older persons'	This systematic review included 40 studies that evaluated the concept of 'person-centredness', a term signifying policies and practices that attend to the uniqueness of each individual user. The review reports on a new literature-based concept synthesis that identifies 12 common attributes within the broad themes of 'understanding the person', 'engagement in decision-making' and 'promoting the care relationship'. The review argues that these common attributes may be delivered in varying degrees and contexts, dependent on the needs of the population. Older adults may require a different delivery method than that for younger people. A 'one-size-fits-all' approach is discouraged. Five interpretations of "person-centredness" were found depending on the context (general medical, nursing, dementia, social care, rehabilitation). These interpretations share common roots such as the term's widely acknowledged psychoanalytical origins. General practitioners are encouraged to pay attention to the 'whole person'. Person-centredness in dementia draws upon social constructionist perspectives of aging. For older people receiving support for long-term conditions in their own home, many will make substantial use of general medical services, nursing care and rehabilitation. Thus, there is a need to identify and describe the key service attributes that are common to each interpretation. At the macro level, person-centredness is reflected in engaging the public in establishing priorities and systems. At the microlevel, person-centredness is evidenced in direct care delivery. The review found consensus in promoting greater service-user involvement in care decision-making, but variation in how to achieve this in practice. Some interpretations suggested achieving autonomy at the system level while others focused on care planning. The review mentions prior research which suggest that older people may prefer less overt approaches to directing care (e.g., decisional autonomy over executional (implementation) autonomy). Successful car	2014	3/9 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	7/40	Not reported in detail	Not reported in detail
experiences of adapting to daily life at home after hospital discharge (60)	people at adapting to daily life at home after hospital discharge. The meta-summary categorized findings into four main themes: 1) experiencing an insecure and unsafe transition; 2) settling into a		(AMSTAR rating from	-,	-5, -5	15, 15

		new situation at home; 3) what would I do without my informal caregiver?; and 4) experience of a paternalistic medical model. Firstly, many older people experienced the transition to home to be unsafe, and in some instances, dangerous due to a lack of information about their diagnosis, difficulties in understanding their medication or medical reconciliation, and experiences of a rushed or poorly planned discharge. Secondly, while numerous studies reported that participants were keen to return to the security of their home, they often experienced difficulties managing cooking, dressing, bathing and other daily activities. Many returned to homes that were not prepared or appropriate for their new health situation. Environmental challenges were also presented (e.g. lack of specialized equipment). Thirdly, older people reported dependence on additional assistance, from either formal or informal caregiver services. Caregiver support such as medication and care management, cooking, cleaning, dressing, shopping, transportation, and personal hygiene were identified as important. Many expressed worry that their illness would strain their personal relationships. Lastly, older people often experience a paternalistic medical model. They were reluctant to critically question staff, expressing complete trust in the system, doing what they are told and relying on and accepting the decisions and assessments of the healthcare professionals. Results indicate the importance of several components to the positive transition from hospital to home, including assessment and planning, information and education, preparation of the home environment, the involvement of the older person and caregivers supporting self-management in the discharge and follow-up care processes at home. One important factor that affects the transition is the communication between older persons, hospital providers and home-care providers. Better communication is needed to improve the coordination of care and facilitate recovery at home. Changes to the organiza		McMaster Health Forum)	N		
	Examining older adults'		Not	Not available	Not	Not available	Not
	experiences of patient involvement in transitional care (98)		available yet	yet	available yet	yet	available yet
Strategies to provide discharge tools	Examining studies that engaged patients in the design or delivery of hospital discharge instruction tools (95)	The review revealed that improving patient engagement in hospital discharge through the use of media, visual aids, or by involving patients when creating or delivering a discharge tool improved comprehension. However, more research is needed to	2014	6/10 (AMSTAR rating from	3/30	Not reported in detail	30/30

		clarify the effect on patient experience, adherence, and healthcare utilization after discharge.		McMaster Health Forum)			
Strategies to develop self-management skills	Examining the evidence regarding three types of options to support those with multiple chronic condition (29)	People who have multiple chronic conditions have complex needs, but they often receive care that is fragmented and ineffective. This citizen brief examines the evidence regarding three types of options to support those with multiple chronic conditions, including changing the way care is organized and delivered for people with multiple chronic health conditions, supporting them to engage in shared decision-making with their healthcare providers, and supporting them to better manage their own care.	2014	Not available for this type of document	Not reported in detail	Not reported in detail	Not reported in detail
	Examining the effectiveness of person- and family-centred care-transition interventions on the quality of care, and the experiences of patients (111)	Systematic review in progress	Not available yet	Not available yet	Not available yet	Not available yet	Not available yet

Appendix 2: Systematic reviews relevant to Element 2 – Enabling providers to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions

Sub-element	Focus of systematic review	Key findings	Year of last search	AMSTAR (quality) rating	Proportion of studies that were conducted in Canada	Proporti on of studies that deal explicitl y with one of the prioritiz ed groups	Proporti on of studies that focused on hospital -to- home transitio ns
Strategies designed to improve the quality of hospital- to-home transitions	Examining what is known about evidence-informed best practices that are designed to improve transitions between hospital and home (99) Examining discharge	This overview identified several best practices that could be implemented at three moments in the hospital-to-home transition process: 1) early in the hospital admission (perform medication reconciliation on admission, assess patient risk of readmission, and assess health literacy); 2) throughout the hospital stay and transition process (use teach back when building caregiver and patient capacity and enhance patient and caregiver communications with the use of visual tools); and 3) close to the time of discharge (ensure personal clinician to clinician transfer and perform medication reconciliation at discharge) This review of 30 trials assessed the effectiveness of planning for the	2016	Not for this type of document 9/11 (AMST	Not reported in detail	Not reported in detail	Not reported in detail
	planning from hospital to home (10)	discharge of patients from hospital. Discharge planning was defined as the development of an individualized discharge plan for a patient prior to them leaving the hospital for home or residential care. Twenty-one trials recruited older participants with a medical condition, five recruited participants with a mix of medical and surgical conditions, one recruited participants from a psychiatric hospital, one from both a psychiatric hospital and from a general hospital, and two trials recruited participants admitted to hospital following a fall. The trials evaluated broad discharge-planning interventions, including assessment, planning, implementation and monitoring phases. The intervention was implemented at varying times, from admission to three days prior to discharge. In all but two trials, a named healthcare professional was in charge of coordinating the discharge plan. The review found that there was a reduction in hospital length of stay and readmissions to hospital for participants who were admitted to the hospital with a medical diagnosis and who were allocated to discharge planning. There was uncertainty whether discharge planning was effective for patients admitted to the hospital following a fall. There was little to no difference between groups for mortality for older people with a medical condition. There was little evidence regarding mortality for patients admitted for surgery or		AR rating from www.rxforc hange.ca)			

	who had a mix of medical and surgical conditions. However, discharge planning was found to have increased satisfaction for both patients and healthcare professionals. Overall, the use of a discharge plan tailored to the patient's need may result in a small reduction in hospital length of stay and reduce the risk of hospital readmission at three months follow-up for older people with a medical condition. While there is little evidence that discharge planning may reduce costs to the healthcare service, it can lead to increased satisfaction.					
Examining quality care outcomes following transitional-care interventions for older people from hospital to home (12)	This review of 12 studies evaluated the quality care outcomes of older people following transitional-care interventions from hospital to home. Twelve studies included outcome measures of re-hospitalization and length of stay with a quality focus on effectiveness, efficiency and safety/risk. Six of the 12 studies assessed patient satisfaction. The included studies assessed several elements considered essential to transitional care interventions, including discharge assessment and care planning, communication between providers, preparation of the person and carer for the care transition, reconciliation of medications at transition, community-based follow-up, and patient education about self-management. Transitional care was mainly implemented by advanced-practice nurses, followed by general practitioners and primary-care nurses. The review found that six studies reported transitional-care interventions to be effective in reducing re-hospitalizations. Three studies found no difference between hospitalization rates between treatment and control groups at six months follow-up. The review also found that people in the intervention groups were more likely to be referred to community-based services. Two studies assessing the effectiveness of general practitioner and primary-care nurse models found no significant improvements in outcomes. In three studies, costs were reduced for the intervention group. Patient satisfaction was found to be high in three studies. No change in caregiver burden was evident. There are gaps in the evidence base regarding the quality of transitional-care interventions for older people, and there is a need for improved evidence and understanding.	2013	6/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)		12/12	12/12
Examining the effectiveness of discharge interventions from hospital to home on hospital readmissions (112)	This review of 51 studies examined which discharge interventions from hospital to home were able to reduce unplanned hospital readmissions within three months. Studies included participants 18 years or older. The included studies had varying types of intervention, including discharge-transfer intervention, use of a checklist, telephone follow-up, community-health worker intervention and education. The overall relative risk for hospital readmission was 0.77, relative risk for return to the emergency department was 0.75 and for morality 0.70. There was improvement in patient satisfaction	2014	6/11 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	4/51	17/51	51/51

	for the intervention group in five of six studies. The review found that interventions which started during hospital stay and continued after discharge were more effective in reducing hospital readmission than those started after discharge. Interestingly, multi-component interventions were not more effective than single-component interventions. Interventions that focused on patient empowerment were the most effective. Overall, interventions aimed at improving the care transition from hospital to home can be effective at reducing hospital readmission, especially if continued into post-discharge.					
Examining the impact of transitional-care services for chronically ill older patients (113)	This review of 92 studies examined the impact of transitional-care services for chronically ill older patients, determining its effectiveness in the primary-care setting. The review found that compared to usual care, significantly better outcomes were observed for the intervention group. Specifically, there was a lower mortality rate at post-discharge, a lower rate of emergency-department visits at three months, and a lower rate of readmission at all checkpoints No significant differences were observed in quality of life. These positive post-discharge outcomes are believed to be linked to better continuity of care. Communication between different healthcare professionals was identified to be an important component in many of the interventions. Improved self-management skills and knowledge of their diseases were also important elements for older patients. Involvement of a pharmacist was helpful in improving treatment compliance and providing more precise individual medication adjustment. Additionally, the use of the same facilitator from the beginning to the end of the intervention was found to be especially valuable by older persons as evident by increased adherence and disease control. Overall, transitional-care services can improve the transition for older patients and should be implemented.	2015	8/11 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	5/92	92/92	92/92
Examining the effect of continuity of care on the quality of life in older adults with chronic diseases (114)	This review of seven studies examined the effect of continuity of care on the quality of life in older adults with chronic diseases. Continuity of care is defined as coherent care with seamless transitions through consistent communication and coordination over time between settings and providers. The continuity-of-care interventions assessed by the review included medical consultations, rehabilitation programs, home visits, telephone interviews and tracking, and a detailed treatment summary. Nurse-led interventions were found in three studies. Positive findings were found in regard to physical functioning, general health, social functioning, vitality, and in minimizing role limitations due to physical problems. No significant impact was determined	2014	6/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	2/7	7/7	7/7

	for the dimensions of bodily pain, mental health and role limitation due to emotional problems. Overall, the review found that continuity-of-care interventions can significantly improve physical function, physical role function, general health, social function and vitality of quality of life for elderly people with chronic					
Examining navigation roles that support chronically ill older adults through healthcare transitions (115)	disease. This review of 15 studies evaluated navigation roles that support chronically ill older adults through healthcare transitions by investigating the potential of existing navigator models relevant to chronic-disease management for older adults. The role of navigator for the chronically ill older person is a relatively new one as all papers included were published after 1999. The majority of studies described registered nurses, often with advanced practice expertise, as healthcare professionals who had the necessary qualifications for the navigator role. Of all the models describing transition of care, discharge planning was included in all except one. Other navigation models offered services such as care planning, coordination of care, phone support, home visits, liaison with medical and community services, and patient and caregiver education. Navigators were all required to advocate for the patient and broker access to appropriate care during the transition.	2011	5/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	2/15	15/15	11/15
	into three general measures: economic (e.g., hospital costs), psychosocial (satisfaction with care), and functional (e.g., quality of life). The review found no significant difference on self-reported quality of life and satisfaction. Studies did find increases in an average savings of hospital costs, but it was unclear whether the increase factored in costs such as program development, execution and administration. Additionally, patients in the intervention group of transitional models (e.g., the Guided Care Nurse model) were more likely to rate their satisfaction as 'high'. However, there was also mixed support for the effectiveness of navigation roles. Two studies revealed little to no effect of the position, while one study resulted in higher use of emergency health services.					
Examining whether	Overall, the review found that integrated and coordinated care guided by a navigator which uses a variety of interventions (e.g., care plans and treatment plans) may be beneficial for the transition of care. There may be economic value to patients, but the impact on system costs is unclear. Research on impact of the role of navigators has not yet been documented or evaluated extensively. This review of nine studies assessed whether transitional care is effective in	2011	3/10	0/9	9/9	9/9
transitional care prevents older adults	preventing older adults from re-hospitalization in the United States. Study outcomes examined include re-hospitalization rates, time to first re-	2011	(AMSTAR rating from	0/9	2/9	9/9

from rehospitalization (116)	hospitalization, total number of hospital days, healthcare costs, patient health status, and patient satisfaction. Seven of nine studies found positive effects of transitional care in preventing re-hospitalization in older adults, but the effects varied at different follow-up periods. Three studies reported only short-term positive effects of transitional care, while two studies reported findings that long-term (e.g., one year) positive effects could be achieved. These differences may be due to the fact that each group of studies was conducted by similar researchers and shared similar study settings. The studies which found positive long-term effects had an additional intervention of home visits as a follow-up strategy. Three of four studies found lower healthcare costs associated with patients receiving transitional care. All three studies found a reduction in re-hospitalization costs. Three of five studies reported that transitional care delayed first re-hospitalization following discharge. Two of four studies reported a decrease in total hospital days. It was also identified that well-developed service systems and well-trained service providers could be an important element to providing effective transitional care. Overall, the review showed that transitional care generally prevents re-hospitalization among older people.		McMaster Health Forum)			
Assessing the impact that transitional-care programs have on the use of health services in community-dwelling older adults (11)	This review examined 23 studies in order to assess the impact transitional care programs may have on the use of health services in community-dwelling older adults. Of the included studies, 19 were randomized controlled trials, while the remaining four consisted of case control studies. With the available evidence in the selected studies, the primary outcomes assessed in this review were categorized into the following: 1) admission and readmissions into hospitals; 2) emergency-department visits; 3) the use of primary-care services; 4) admittance into nursing homes; and 5) home-health-care usage. Of the outcomes explored in the review, the effect of transitional-care programs on hospital usage was the most frequently analyzed (n=22). This was followed by 14 studies reporting on emergency-department visits, eight studies on primary care usage, five studies on nursing homes, and four studies on home healthcare. Upon reviewing the existing literature, the findings of the review report four key takeaways: 1) transitional-care interventions can decrease hospital readmission rates for older adults; 2) implementation of transitional-care programs may increase the use of primary-care services; 3) transitional care can decrease the use of home-healthcare services; and 4) in decreasing hospital use, short-term interventions (of one month or less) have the ability to be equally as effective as longer duration interventions. The latter takeaway is noteworthy as long-term interventions can accumulate higher costs over time	2016	8/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	2/23	23/23	23/23

	and minimize healthcare savings. In addition, the reported findings o interventions on nursing-home usage was limited and as such, no significant could be observed.					
Evaluating transitional intervention determine potential ir improving outcomes adults transfrom skiller facilities to home (117)	The aim of this review was to examine whether transitional-care intercare can improve clinical outcomes for patients. Specifically, interventions have an impact on patient mortality, readmission, and quality of life fadults transitioning from skilled nursing facilities to their home. In the six included studies, several pre- and post-discharge interventions services were noted. Pre-discharge services included patient education discharge planning and appointments. Post-discharge services included medication reconciliation, home visits and continual contact with hear professionals.	that or older on on on, ed old old old old old old old old old ol	8/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	0/6	6/6	6/6
Evaluating effectivene nursing dis planning interventio clinical out older adult	the This review examined 13 studies to consolidate evidence on the effect of nursing discharge-planning interventions and assess the impact of intervention's individual components. Of the included studies, 10 we randomized controlled trials, two were pilot studies, and one had a postudy design.	the re re-post ons; disease; isfaction on. y patients f life, but of robust	9/11 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	1/13	13/13	13/13

Evaluating if patients recruited in transitional-care studies pose the greatest risk for hospital readmission upon discharge (119)	This systematic review analyzed 17 articles with the aim of investigating whether patients in randomized controlled trials of hospital-to-home intervention studies were representative of those posing the highest risk of readmission upon discharge from the hospital. The factors deemed relevant for assessment in this review were cognitive impairment, depression, polypharmacy, comorbidity, duration of hospital admittance, late-stage non-malignant diseases, and availability of peer support. Of the selected studies, nine articles targeted patients who have minimal social support, three focused on patients with two or more comorbid conditions, and four articles included patients with three or more risk factors for hospital readmission.	2011	4/9 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	2/17	9/17	17/17
	As a noticeable difference within the participant populations was observed, this prompted several concerns regarding the validity of transitional-care interventions for the authors. Specifically, there was concern regarding the generalizability and ability of care interventions to enhance clinical outcomes for patients at highest risk of re-hospitalization. The authors of the review suggest that the results from existing studies cannot be generalized and thus require further hospital-to-home studies to be conducted using high-risk populations.					
Evaluating the impacts of interventions with the intended outcome of reducing emergency-department by adult frequent users (120)	People that frequently access emergency-department services are at-risk patients who often experience a multitude of chronic disease, comorbidities, and social disparities (like low socio-economic status or older age) that affect their health and well-being. This review included 31 studies that identified the effectiveness of interventions – by examining number of visits and other patient outcomes – that aimed to reduce frequent users' emergency-department visits. Interventions included multidisciplinary case management, individualized care plans, strategies to divert users to other care settings, and social work home	2014	8/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	2/31	6/31	0/31
	visits. Of the 31 studies, 22 showed reduced emergency-department visits after the intervention, though the strength of the relationship was not always statistically significant. Post-intervention, the secondary outcomes had a variety of results: hospital admissions generally decreased, outpatient visits generally increased, mortality rates provided mixed results, housing stability uniformly increased after case management interventions, and costs generally decreased. The study characterizes these secondary outcomes as inconclusive, due to inconsistent results and a lack of adequate information.					
	In conclusion, the review states that interventions for frequent emergency-department users are likely to reduce visits and improve social outcomes (i.e., housing stability). Limitations to this study included differences in the definition of "frequent user" amongst studies, heterogeneity between studies,					

		and generally low/moderate study quality. The authors suggest that there is a need for standardization of definitions in this field and that further high-					
ini str wi fo trz th	Determining care intervention trategies to assist with patient safety or older adults cansitioning from the hospital to home (221)	quality research must be conducted. This review examined 37 studies with the primary aim of determining intervention strategies that can assist with increasing patient safety for older adults transitioning from hospital to home. Transitional-care interventions commonly associated with high reported benefit for older adults included: education and training from health professionals; electronic tools; a transfer nurse; discharge protocol, planning, and support; and patient awareness. The authors indicate the following key features for successful implementation of transitional-care interventions: 1) incorporation in the early stages and continuing beyond the discharge period; 2) integration of a healthcare provider and family caregiver; 3) intervention forms that focus on patient engagement and education; 4) pharmacy-related interventions; and 5) transitional-care programs with multifaceted interventions. The findings of the review suggest that older adults transitioning from the hospital to home are able to significantly benefit from targeted care interventions. The successful implementation of these interventions has been linked with decreased re-hospitalization rates and reduced healthcare usage and cost, along with increased satisfaction for both the patient and their family. Though the authors assert several interventions capable of improving patient	2010	2/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	0/35	35/35	35/35
	Examining	safety, they recognize the lack of a thorough methodological quality assessment of the targeted studies. This review examined 39 studies on interventions that aimed to improve	2018	Not	8/39	Not	39/39
to ad dis	nterventions aimed to improve hospital dmission and ischarge nanagement (122)	hospital admission and discharge management. In examining the 39 studies, none of the interventions focused on admission management; instead, all studies looked at discharge-management interventions which were implemented once the patient is already in hospital. The authors concluded that the most effective interventions were either		available for this type of document		reported in detail	
		discharge-management interventions aimed at elderly patients or high- intensity interventions. The authors suggest that further research around hospital admission management be conducted.			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
ef: hc co	dentifying the cost- ffectiveness of ospital-to- ommunity cansitional care	The five studies that met inclusion criteria for this review examined the cost- effectiveness of hospital-to-community transitional care when delivered by nurse practitioners. Four of the included studies examined complementary nurse practitioners while one study examined an alternative-provider nurse practitioner. The risk of bias was high for three of the studies and low for two of them, and all five studies were identified as having weak economic analyses.	2012	9/11 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	1/5	Not reported in detail	5/5

executed by nurse						
practitioners (123)	The one study that focused on an alternative-provider nurse practitioner found that the nurse practitioner had comparable patient outcomes and resource usage to physicians; however, this finding was of low quality. Within the other four studies that focused on complementary nurse practitioners, patient outcomes were also similar when compared to control groups (except for when looking at the two specific patient outcomes that favoured nurse-practitioner care, which were anxiety in rehabilitation patients and patient satisfaction after abdominal hysterectomy).					
	When examining levels of re-hospitalization, the results of meta-analysis were inconclusive. That being said, a low-quality study suggested that complementary transitional care provided by nurse practitioners were found to decrease levels of re-hospitalization within 90 and 180 days amongst patients with complex care needs. Further, complementary provider nurse practitioners were found to significantly decrease patient-to-staff consultation calls both in measures of duration and number of calls. In conclusion, the authors found that the evidence in regards to the cost-					
	effectiveness of hospital-to-community transitional care delivered by nurse practitioners is inconclusive, and further research with higher quality, stronger economic analyses, and larger sample sizes must be done.					
Determining the clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of hospital-to-home transitional care delivered by clinical nurse specialists (124)	The authors identified 13 studies as meeting inclusion criteria for the review on clinical nurse specialists providing hospital-to-home transitional care. The risk of bias within the studies was varied, with three studies having low risk of bias, eight having moderate risk of bias, and two having high risk of bias. All 13 studies had weak economic analyses. Clinical nurse specialists were shown to decrease patient mortality after cancer surgery. Furthermore, with regard to patients with heart failure, clinical nurse specialists improved outcomes related to mortality, re-hospitalization, patient satisfaction, treatment adherence, and costs. In addition, clinical nurse-specialist care improved outcomes for elderly patients and their caregivers, improving caregiver depression, reducing re-hospitalization rates and decreasing length of stay, and decreasing costs. Finally, for women undergoing high-risk pregnancies and infants with very low birthweights, clinical nurse-specialist care improved infant immunization rates, increased maternal satisfaction, and reduced costs and lengths of hospitalization.	2013	9/11 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	Not reported in detail	Not reported in detail	13/13
	To conclude, the authors suggest that clinical nurse-specialist transitional care potentially improves outcomes with regards to patient health, rehospitalization, hospital length of stay, and cost; however, since these conclusions are low evidence, further research is required.					
Evaluating transitional-care	This review examined 23 studies that evaluated transition-of-care models meant to reduce rates of re-hospitalization amongst patients with heart failure.	2015	4/9 (AMSTAR	0/23	n/a	n/a

strategies that aim to decrease rates of re- hospitalization for patients with heart failure (125)	Ultimately, eight common themes regarding transitional care were identified within the literature. These themes outlined the ways in which transition-of-care practices can improve long-term patient outcomes. Importantly, the authors note that theme-based transitional care can include important strategies like disseminating educational knowledge and practical skills, promoting self-care engagement, and encouraging active communication with healthcare providers.		rating from McMaster Health Forum)			
Examining the effects of transitional-care models on patients with stroke (126)	The authors of this review aimed to understand the way in which transitional-care models affected patients with stroke. Transitional-care models generally aim to improve patient and hospital readmission outcomes, and broadly include practices like medication management, transition planning, patient and family engagement/education, information transfer, follow-up care, healthcare-provider engagement, and shared accountability amongst organizations. Thirteen papers met inclusion criteria and only six of the studies demonstrated that transitional-care models significantly improved outcomes. Transitional care models were ultimately not shown to significantly reduce emergency room visits or hospital readmission rates. In conclusion, though a portion of the evidence suggested that transitional-care interventions are effective in patients with strokes, a standardization of evidence along with more rigorous research is needed to come to a clearer	2013	3/9 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	2/13	n/a	13/13
Determining the effectiveness of transitional-care interventions on reducing readmissions for patients with heart failure (127)	conclusion. This review aimed to evaluate the benefits and drawbacks of interventions implemented to reduce hospital readmission rates and mortality rates for patients with heart failure. Within their examinations of 47 studies, the authors found that interventions had a variety of effects. When examining 30-day readmission rates, one high-intensity home-visiting program had the effect of successfully reducing all-cause readmission rates and other outcomes; notably, this conclusion had a low strength of evidence. Over the three- to six-month period, home-visiting programs and multidisciplinary heart failure clinic interventions were found, with a high strength of evidence, to also have the effect of reducing all-cause readmission. Specifically, though, home-visiting programs were found by evidence of moderate strength to reduce heart-failure-specific readmission. Structured telephone-support interventions were found with high strength of evidence to reduce heart-failure-specific readmission; however, with a moderate strength of evidence, the studies suggested that these interventions did not decrease all-cause readmission rates. Home-visiting programs, multidisciplinary heart failure clinics, and structured telephone support all decreased mortality rates; in contrast, telemonitoring and primary educational interventions did not show any positive effects.	2013	8/11 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	3/47	n/a	47/47
Identifying factors that support older patients with	This review aimed to address the complexity of providing care to older adults with multiple chronic diseases who receive care from a multitude of different services. In order to do so, the review consulted four studies to determine the	2013	5/9 (AMSTAR rating from	0/4	n/a	n/a

multiple chronic diseases during their transition between healthcare-service delivery types (128)	components of a chronic-care model to support older adults during these transitions. The authors identified the components of a chronic-care model for an integrated health system as including clinical information sharing, community linkages, and supported self-management. The review found that the inclusion of these components likely improved health outcomes, patient-experience outcomes, and the transition between hospital and ambulatory care. Finally, the authors noted that further research is needed in order to gain a more comprehensive understanding of the effects of implementing these components of a chronic-care model.		McMaster Health Forum)			
Evaluating the effectiveness of transitional care for patients hospitalized with acute stroke or myocardial infarction (129)	This review identified 44 studies that comparatively reviewed transitional care with standard care for adults hospitalized for acute stroke or myocardial infarction. The authors aimed to fill a gap in the evidence around transitional care after acute events, like stroke and myocardial infarction. The interventions examined could be categorized into four types. Type 1 interventions provided hospital-initiated support for discharge, type 2 interventions centred on patient and family education, type 3 interventions were community-based support interventions, and type 4 were based around chronic-disease management. At the patient level, whether the interventions improved outcomes was generally inconclusive. Some studies suggested that hospital-initiated interventions – particularly guideline-based care and specialty follow-up – decreased mortality after myocardial infarction; however, this evidence was low in strength. In some cases, early supported discharge interventions helped stroke patients; however, there were no significant improvements in mortality for stroke patients. When examining the patient and family interventions, the evidence was not sufficient to assert any conclusion. In the case of community-based interventions, the evidence was also insufficient. However, a few benefits of these interventions were shown in specific studies: one study showed improvements in depression, walking activity, quality of life, and global disability (but not in activities of daily living or cognition); and one study showed improvements in anxiety, but not in a variety of other emotional, physical, and cognitive outcomes. Five stroke studies examined caregiver outcomes. No significant changes were shown in caregiver burden or caregiver satisfaction. Some studies showed positive improvements in caregiver outcomes; however the results were largely inconclusive.	2012	5/10 (AMST AR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	5/44	n/a	44/44

	did not affect functional outcomes or re-hospitalization rates. The authors state that the evidence around systems-level outcomes is insufficient. In conclusion, evidence that was low to moderate in strength suggested that hospital-initiated interventions could improve certain outcomes. The evidence around the other types of interventions – patient and family education, community-based models, and chronic disease-management models – was insufficient. The authors suggest that definitions need to be standardized in order to increase strength of evidence so that specific interventions can be better evaluated.					
Examining the effectiveness of transition-of-care services on patients hospitalized with stroke or myocardial infarction (130)	This review examined 62 articles to determine if coordinated transition-of-care services positively affect patients who have been hospitalized with stroke or myocardial infarction. The authors identified four key types of interventions: 1) hospital-initiated support for discharge (the initial stage of transition); 2) patient and family education interventions (started in hospital, but continued within community); 3) community-based models; and 4) chronic disease-management models. As the research within the included studies was not generally methodologically rigorous, most studies did not come to a direct conclusion around the effectiveness of certain interventions. Limited evidence did suggest that intervention type 1 – hospital-initiated support for discharge – may have improved patient- and system-level outcomes. However, none of the other intervention types had enough evidence to come to a conclusion around their effectiveness. The authors suggest that studies investigating transition of care must utilize more rigorous methodology in the future. Furthermore, they note that the literature would be more useful if definitions were standardized. Finally, they wish more appropriate patient- and policy-related outcomes were utilized within the research in order to strengthen the evidence.	2011	7/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	7/62	n/a	62/62
Determining the effectiveness of nurse-assisted case management on improving hospital-discharge transition outcomes for elderly patients (131)	This review examined 15 studies that focused on nurse-assisted case management. The authors found that eight of the 15 interventions led to reduced hospital readmission rates and/or decreased hospital lengths of stay. In the 11 studies that examined emergency-department usage rates, three found that usage decreased. All six of the studies that investigated expenses found that they were lower with the nurse-assisted case-management interventions. The authors suggest that it is important for hospital-discharge transitions to include frequent provider-patient contact, early post-discharge contact, patient education, and the utilization of specialized nurses.	2006	2/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	2/15	n/a	15/15
Examining the effects of	This review identified 14 studies that examined the role of community pharmacies on the transition from secondary to primary care, particularly	n/a	9/10 (AMSTAR	1/14	n/a	0/14

	community pharmacies on secondary-to- primary care transition (132)	focusing on patient and medication outcomes. Four studies examined the identification and rectification of medication errors, finding improvements as a result of community pharmacies. In examining other patient outcomes, like medication adherence and clinical control, the studies did not show community-pharmacy involvement as having a unanimously positive or negative effect. In conclusion, the studies suggest that community pharmacies can improve some drug-related outcomes after patient discharge; however, more research is needed to gain a better understanding of the effects.		rating from McMaster Health Forum)			
Strategies to help providers to proactively identify older adults with complex health and social needs	None identified						
Strategies to engage older adults and caregivers as advisors to healthcare organizations	Examining whether patient engagement in patient advisory councils is linked to improvements in clinical quality, patient safety or patient satisfaction (100)	The review identified five studies showing promising methods for evaluating patient engagement in healthcare delivery and found positive impacts on clinical outcomes and priority setting. It also revealed that patient advisors tend to contribute to patient-facing services that may affect clinical care, but are not easily evaluated. More rigorous evaluation is needed to support the expansion of system-level patient engagement.	2015	7/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	4/34	0/34	0/34
	Examining patient engagement in the development of best-practice reports related to transitions from hospital to home (101)	The review revealed that only half of existing best-practice reports that were found and that related to hospital-to-home transitions actively involved patients in report development. However, the extent of patient engagement in the development of best-practice reports has been increasing over time.	2019	6/9 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	5/23	Not reported in detail	23/23

Appendix 3: Systematic reviews relevant to Element 3 – Enabling decision-makers to make small yet rapid changes to improve the quality of hospital-to-home transitions

Sub-element	Focus of systematic review	Key findings	Year of last search	AMSTAR (quality) rating	Proportion of studies that were conducted in Canada	Proportion of studies that deal explicitly with one of the prioritized groups	Proportion of studies that focused on hospital- to-home transitions
Enabling decision-makers to make small yet rapid changes	Examining attempts to adopt the Learning Health System paradigm, with an emphasis on implementations and evaluating the impact on current medical practices (106)	The review examined a total of 32 documents (a range of reports, scientific publications and other related grey literature), which included 13 studies, in order to examine the attempts to adopt the Learning Health System paradigm. A learning healthcare system is driven to generate and apply the best evidence for collaborative healthcare, while focusing on innovation, quality, safety and value. Patients are a major factor in this model of health provision, given the emphasis on collaboration and collective decision-making. This review examines the attempts to implement this model of medicine. The results of this review indicate that there has been very little action in terms of implementing learning health systems, despite a great deal of interest. It is possible that there is great trust placed in the learning health system without proper assessment of impact. This may have contributed to the low number of studies qualifying for inclusion in the review. A major focus should be placed on assessment and reporting, considering that many attempts to adopt this system of health have been attempted and not reported. Existing frameworks for assessing medicine applications can be used to assess the efficacy of learning health systems. Further, reporting of the evaluation of these systems must be comprehensive. Lack of consistency across studies diminishes quality and effectiveness, and makes it difficult to assess outcomes. Taken together, the Learning Health System paradigm must be of central focus to researchers moving forward. While the central tenets of this approach are	2015	3/10 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	0/13	Not reported in detail	Not reported in detail

		supported by researchers, there is a lack of assessment. The impact of such a system must be evaluated in order to boost adoption.					
issues that is rais	pectrum of ethical ed for stakeholders ealth Care System	The review examined 65 studies in order to determine the spectrum of ethical issues raised for stakeholders in a "Learning Health Care System". A Learning Health Care System embodies an approach for integrating clinical research and clinical practice, in order to address problems of effectiveness and efficiency in the healthcare system. In such a system, knowledge generation should be embedded so that health systems can learn and grow. However, this blend of research and practice raises ethical dilemmas such as confidentiality and consent. This review aimed to summarize pertinent ethical issues in order to guide decision-making among healthcare professionals and policymakers. The ethical issues arising in Learning Health Care Systems can be broken down into different phases. In the phase of designing activities, ethical issues include the risk of negative outcomes that may result from activities that are not academically rigorous. As well, it is possible that stakeholders will not engage with this stage, which can affect trust and support in a learning activity. In the ethical oversight of activities, confusion surrounding ethical obligations and regulations can hinder progress. In conducting activities, the involvement of participants can lead to ethical difficulties with consent and data management. In implementing learning, main difficulties arise in changing practice efficiently, maintaining transparency, and reducing unintended negative consequences. The distinction between "research" and "practice" often creates ethical confusion, as many learning healthcare activities do not fit this dichotomy. Strategies to cope with these ethical problems include implementing policies and procedures, providing traning and guidance for ethical committee members, and streamlining ethical-review processes. The rights of individuals must be protected as healthcare quality improves.	2015	1/9 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	Not reported in detail	Not reported in detail	Not reported in detail

	Future research should focus on clarifying these ethical dilemmas and contribute to improving the quality of healthcare.					
Examining the creation of rapid- learning health systems in Canada (105)	Most Canadian health systems have both a health system and a research system that are increasingly putting patients and rapid learning and improvement at their centre. This report is meant to start a conversation about how the framework and concepts can be adapted, piloted and iteratively revised within and across Canadian jurisdictions.	2018	5/9 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	Not reported in detail	Not reported in detail	Not reported in detail
	Creating rapid-learning health systems offers the potential to: 1) 'move the dial' for patients in their experiences and outcomes in rapid-improvement cycles; 2) enable data- and evidence-informed transformations at all levels of a health system; 3) motivate greater collaboration among, and enable greater impacts of (and returns on investments in), all elements of the research system; and 4) better leverage quality-improvement and other learning and improvement infrastructures operating at the interface between the health and research systems.					
Examining the creation of rapid- learning health systems in Ontario (104)	Ontario has both a health system and a research system that are increasingly putting patients and rapid learning and improvement at their centre. The concept of a rapid-learning health system could be used to identify how best to leverage existing assets and address current gaps, but it requires an Ontario-appropriate definition of, and set of characteristics for, a rapid-learning health system; a documentation of existing assets and identification of current gaps; and the identification of 'windows of opportunity' that can be capitalized on or created to stimulate the development and consolidation of a rapid-learning health system. This rapid synthesis addresses this need.	2018	5/9 (AMSTAR rating from McMaster Health Forum)	Not reported in detail	Not reported in detail	Not reported in detail





>> Contact us

1280 Main St. West, MML-417 Hamilton, ON, Canada L8S 4L6 +1.905.525.9140 x 22121 forum@mcmaster.ca

>> Find and follow us

mcmasterforum.org
healthsystemsevidence.org
socialsystemsevidence.org
mcmasteroptimalaging.org

mcmasteroptimalaging.org